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The Royatl Liverpool Children’s Inquiry

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

Background to the Inquiry

The need for this Inquiry arose from the evidence to the Bristol Royal Infirmary
Inquiry of Professor R H Anderson, Professor of Morphology at Great Ormond Street
Hospital for Sick Children, on 7 September 1999. He spoke of the benefits of retaining
hearts for the purpose of study and teaching referring to collections at various hospitals
around the country. He identified the largest collection at Royal Liverpool Children’s
NHS Trust (Alder Hey Children’s Hospital).

On 25 March 1999 Ms Donna Covey, Director of the Association of Community Health
Councils for England and Wales, had written to the then Secretary of State for Health
The Rt Hon Frank Dobson MP. She informed him that some hospitals routinely retained
human organs and tissue following post mortem examination without having obtained
the proper consent of relatives. She believed the practice to be unlawful and contrary to
the provisions of the Human Tissue Act 1961. In his reply of 27 May 1999 Mr Dobson
shared the concerns expressed by Ms Covey about the distress felt by relatives who
were not informed about the process of post mortem examination, especially when
organs were retained without their knowledge. He stated that he had written to several
parents explaining what was being done to make sure that the practice did not continue.

The practice of removing and retaining organs following post mortem examination has
been widespread in hospitals around the country and is of long-standing. The medical
profession justifies retention for the purpose of medical education and research. Their
approach has been paternalistic in the belief that parents or relatives would not wish to
know about retention of organs and the uses to which they are put. In some cases
consent has not been obtained at all, in others consent forms have been signed but
without the relatives fully understanding what was involved. In the current climate of
frankness and openness it should no longer be possible for organs to be retained
without the knowledge or consent of the parents or relatives.

At Alder Hey the systematic full-scale removal of organs in the period 1988-1995,
which we describe as ‘the van Velzen years’, compounded the problem. Preliminary
post mortem reports were often left incomplete. The large majority of retained organs
were not subjected to histological examination. Rarely do they appear to have been
used for medical education or research purposes. The organs were largely ignored, with
the consequence that there was a remorseless increase in the number of organs stored in
containers. There was some limited use of the organs for research purposes. However,
the large majority of organs remained untouched throughout the period.
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Announcement of Inquiry

On 3 December 1999 Lord Hunt, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State (Lords),
established this Independent Confidential Inquiry under the provisions of Section 2
National Health Service Act 1977. The purpose was to investigate the removal,
retention and disposal of human organs and tissues following post mortem examination

at Alder Hey.

Constitution of Inquiry Panel

The Inquiry Panel was appointed on 17 December 1999. The Chairman, Mr Michael

Redfern QC, was assisted by Panel Members, Dr Jean Keeling, Consultant Paediatric
Pathologist, Royal Hospital for Sick Children, Edinburgh and Mrs Elizabeth Powell,

Chief Officer, Liverpool (Central & Southern} Community Health Council.

The Panel convened on 22 December 1999,

Terms of Reference

The Terms of Reference were widely drawn. Essentially ours was a fact-finding
Inquiry to establish what happened, to draw conclusions and thereafter to make
recommendations. The following are our Terms of Reference.

® To inquire into the circumstances leading to the removal, retention and disposal of
human tissue, including organs of the body, from children at the Royal Liverpool
Children’s NHS Trust (and its predecessor NHS organisations) who have undergone
post mortem.

® To inquire into the extent to which the Human Tissue Act 1961 has been
complied with.

® To examine professional practice and management action and systems, including
what information, and in what form was given to the children’s parents, or where
relevant, other family members, in respect of the removal, retention and disposal
of tissue.



The Roval Liverpool Children’s Inquiry

® To examine the role of the NHS and other persons or bodies involved.
® To consider such other issues relating to the above matters as necessary.

® To report to Secretary of State by end of March 2000 and make such
recommendations as are appropriate.

Note: These terms of reference exclude tissue and organs removed with consent

Jor transplant purposes.

The reporting deadline was extended by Secretary of State in the light of
early findings and the need for further detailed investigation.

We considered the removal and retention of organs prior to 1962. We concentrated on
events from 1962 using the Human Tissue Act 1961 as the primary statutory provision
relevant to the Inquiry. We also considered the Coroner’s Act 1988 and the Coroner’s

The Inquiry formally opened on 9 February 2000 at Norwich House, Water Street,
Liverpool. The Chairman gave an opening statement and published Draft Procedures
and Management Arrangements. The representatives of the parties appearing at the

Secretary of State had determined that the Inquiry should be confidential and the
process inquisitorial. This had the advantage of speed and efficiency and encouraged

All witnesses provided a signed written statement prior to giving evidence. A list of

Our duty was ‘to make and direct all necessary searching investigations and to produce
the witnesses in order to arrive at the truth’ in accordance with The Royal Commission

4.2

Rules 1984.
5. Opening
5.1

Inquiry had agreed the Draft Procedures by 18 February 2000.
6.  Inquiry Procedure
6.1

witnesses to be frank in their evidence.
6.2

witnesses and a timetable was published and regularly updated.
6.3

on Tribunals of Inquiry (CMMD 3121 1966 paragraph 28).
6.4

From the outset we strove to remain impartial and to afford a fair hearing to all
concerned. We have been aware of the need to maintain balance and to avoid the
pitfalls of hindsight and retrospect. We have positively encouraged freedom of speech.
There has been neither witch-hunt nor whitewash.
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Confidentiality of Witness Evidence

At the opening of the Inquiry on 9 February 2000 all parties were invited to give an
undertaking of confidentiality in respect of all oral evidence and documents produced
or referred to in the course of the Inquiry. This extended to witness statements which
were not circulated to any other party. The undertaking required that all confidential
material be returned to the Inquiry at its conclusion.

All witnesses appearing at the Inquiry were asked whether they understood the
importance of their evidence even though they were not giving evidence on oath. The
answer in all cases was affirmative. Upon completion of their evidence each witness
was made aware that they remained bound by the confidentiality of the Inquiry.

Whilst the evidence was confidential it was always intended that our report would be
public. For this reason we have had to summarise evidence in order to justify our
conclusions and in order to clarify important findings we have on occasions quoted
witnesses directly.

lssues

Counsel to the Inquiry, after consultation with other interested parties, drew up a
detailed 17-page Issues Document which formed the backbone of the Inquiry
(Appendix 2). It formed the basic structure for analysis of the evidence and the
issues throughout our proceedings.

Gathering of Evidence

In January 2000 we began collecting relevant documentation from all witnesses, Alder
Hey, the NHS Executive North West Regional Office, the University of Liverpool and
HM Coroner of Liverpool. All parties undertook to co-operate with the Inquiry,
particularly with regard to the production of documents. We scrutinised in excess

of 50,000 documents.
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10.2

11.

11.2

11.3

Salmon Letters

We ensured that before witnesses were called to give evidence they were informed of
any general allegations to be made and the substance of the evidence in support. This
information was contained in an initial letter known as a Salmon letter (a requirement
of The Roval Commission on Tribunals of Inquiry) which was served on each witness.
A written statement was then provided. The Solicitor to the Inquiry took the statements.
Witnesses had the lawyer of their choice present at the interview. They had the
opportunity to alter, add to or amend their statements before signing. Where appropriate
a more detailed Salmon letter was then served with details of relevant allegations and
documents likely to be referred to at the hearing. In Appendix 5 we enclose examples
of both an initial and a more detailed Salmon letter.

The purpose of the Salmon letters was to assist witnesses who faced possible criticism
to understand the issues which were likely to be raised at the hearing, They were not
designed to prejudge issues but merely to give witnesses a full opportunity to consider
all matters to be dealt with in evidence. Matters set out in the Salmon letter, but not
referred to at the hearing, were not used as the basis for criticism in the Report.

Witness Representation

Witnesses from Alder Hey, other Trusts, the University and NHS Executive North West
Regional Office had legal representation provided by their employers. Some witnesses
had separate legal representation when potential conflict with their employers arose.
The former HM Coroner of Liverpool Mr Roy Barter and Professor van Velzen chose
not to have legal representation. Legal representatives were in attendance when their
client gave evidence to the Inquiry. A full list of legal representation is attached at
Appendix 1.

The parents, including those who were members of the group ‘Parents who Inter Their
Young Twice’ (PTTY II), were represented by one of two lead firms of solicitors. The
parents had their lawyer present when giving evidence. All parents who gave evidence
before the Inquiry provided a written statement in advance to supplement their
completed preliminary evidence questionnaire.

Lawyers for all interested parties were afforded the facility of submitting written
questions to Counsel or Solicitor to the Inquiry who, at their discretion, could put any
relevant matter to any witness who was giving evidence.
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Counselling

The nature of the Inquiry meant that there was every possibility that witnesses might
need counselling during or following the conclusion of their evidence. Counselling
facilities were made available by the Inquiry throughout the hearings. Thereafter
counselling was available by appointment. This facility is still available to parents
upon demand. We are indebted to Barnardos who made counsellors available on a
daily basis and continue to meet that need. Any parent in need of counselling can be
accommodated either by direct approach to the Inquiry or through their solicitor or
the Community Health Council.

Parents’ Evidence

The large majority of parents who contacted the Inquiry completed a preliminary
evidence questionnaire (Appendix 3). A total of 402 parents responded to the Inquiry
and we received 342 completed questionnaires and statements. Great care was taken

in drafting the questionnaire. It was designed to encourage parents to say in their own
words what they felt about events following the death of their child. They were asked
about consent to post mortem examination, what they were told of the process, whether
they were aware of the distinction between a Coroner’s and a hospital post mortem
examination and they were invited to describe the circumstances of the funeral. They
were asked to express their views about the way that they had been told of organ
retention in their particular casc.

The parents’ solicitors, PITY II and the Liverpool Eastern Community Health Council
were consulted about the content of the questionnaire. It was amended in response to
their concerns and suggestions. Dr George Hay, Consultant Psychiatrist, and Dr Alice
Huddy, Consultant Neurcpsychelogist, confirmed the suitability of the preliminary
evidence questionnaire.

Parents had the option of secking advice from solicitors in completing questionnaires.
Some submitted lists of questions they wanted answering. We selected 43 parents who
completed questionnaires and statements to give evidence before us as a representative
sample. We carefully considered all parents’ written evidence.

The hearings commenced on 11 May 2000 and were due to conclude on 30 June 2000.
However, because of iil health or unavoidable professional commitments, several
hearings had to be rescheduled with the result that the oral evidence was not concluded
until 14 July 2000. In consequence, on one or two occasions the Panel was only able to
sit with the Chairman and one member because of previously arranged commitments.
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15.1

10

The Coroner

The absent Panel Member received transcripts of evidence on the same day.
All hearings took place in a dedicated hearing room complete with LiveNote
recording technology.

We received oral and written opening and closing submissions from all parties.

Expert Evidence

Eileen Goddard from the Office of National Statistics Social Survey Division was asked
to review the parents’ evidence and compare the evidence given at oral hearings with
that provided in writing. She said ‘the experiences of parents giving oral evidence are
remarkably similar to other parents who came forward as a result of the Inquiry.”

We had the benefit of expert seminars on issues including Medical Ethics and
University Medical School teaching. We heard of the need to incorporate within the
teaching curriculum matters relating to death, bereavement, grief and the taking of
consent for post mortem examination. The distinction between Coroner’s and hospital
post mortem examinations must be made clear as should the need for tack of objection
or consent to organ retention.

We also had a seminar on Human Rights and obtained expert medical opinions from

a psychiatrist, a neuropsychologist and a psychologist. They commented on how Alder
Hey should have dealt with the parents in September 1999. We dealt specifically with
the issue of bereavement advice and counselling. We also received evidence from a
consultant forensic pathologist and a consultant in public health medicine.

We considered evidence on religious issues but operated to the highest common
denominator, namely those religions which require burial within 24 hours of death,
as the yardstick against which to measure post mortem procedures.

We considered legal studies by CMS Cameron McKenna entitled ‘Removal, retention
and use of human tissue following post mortem examination’ dated November 1999
(Bristol Inquiry 23) and the Legal Study by the Bristol Heart Action Group for the
Bristol Inquiry (Bristol Inquiry SUB 1/1-40 19.9.99).

The former HM Coroner of Liverpool, Mr Roy Barter, received an initial Salmon letter
and provided a signed written statement. Shortly before he was due to give evidence he
received a detailed Salmon letter. He was asked about his relationship with parents,
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clinicians and pathologists. He was also questioned about the Coroner’s procedures and
the function of the Coroner’s Officer. He was asked about incomplete post mortem
reports in the absence of histological examination.

We concentrated our attention upon Mr Barter because the defects in the Coroner’s
process were readily apparent at Liverpool. Many of our findings would, however,
have national implications.

Professor van Velzen

We paid particular regard to the evidence of Professor van Velzen and his documents.
The Solicitor to the Inquiry spent two days in The Netherlands interviewing Professor
van Velzen. The interview was taped and the full transcript was put into evidence rather
than a formal statement. Professor van Velzen also gave oral evidence to the Inquiry
over the course of a full day. We considerably exceeded our normal sitting times to
ensure we heard everything he had to say. We examined all the documents he produced.

Clinicians’ Seminar

A Clinicians’ Seminar was held at Alder Hey on 23 May 2000. The purpose was to
outline the issues and encourage the clinicians to be fearless, frank and open when
giving evidence. We came away with the view that the majority of clinicians would
deny knowledge as to the extent of the organ retention in the period 1988 to 1995.
However, they were well aware of the long accepted and established practice of
removing and retaining some organs following post mortem examination for medical
education and research purposes. One of the more senior clinicians present accepted
that in hindsight it had been wrong to retain organs without consent.

Myrtle Street

We have used the name Myrtle Street for the premises where Professor van Velzen
stored the organs accumulated between 1988 and 1995. The premises are well known
locally by this name although the formal address is 98-99 Mulberry Street, Liverpool.

11
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The Myrtle Street buildings
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We include photographs of Myrtle Street in order to give some idea of the nature of the
building. Construction began in September 1900 and was completed in 1902, The
building was then used as the Liverpool Children’s Dispensing Infirmary on behalf of
the Trustees of the Liverpool Children’s Infirmary. In 1975 Liverpool City Council
acquired the freehold and granted a three-year lease to Liverpool Area Health Authority.
In 1978 a five-year lease was granted to Mersey Regional Health Authority and this
was renewed for a further five years in 1983. In 1988 a five-year lease was granted to
the Secretary of State for Social Services. From 1975-1995 the premises were occupied
by Alder Hey and its predecessors. In 1995 Liverpool City Council granted a tenancy
terminable on six months’ notice to Liverpool University. It would appear that in the
period 1975-1995 Alder Hey shared their clinical use of Myrtle Street with the
University who carried out academic and research work. The reason for this was that in
Professor van Velzen’s case he provided 6/11ths of his contracted time to Alder Hey
and the remainder to his formal employer, Liverpool University. He enjoyed the
seclusion Myrtle Street afforded him.

Alder Hey

Alder Hey is the term we use to describe the Royal Liverpool Children’s Hospital NHS
Trust and its predecessors in title. It is well known locally by this name. The hospital
was founded in 1914 and is probably the largest children’s hospital in North Western
Europe. It has a first class reputation for saving the lives of sick children and a proud
history of medical achievement and clinical innovation. It is an international centre

of excellence treating more than 200,000 children a year from 17 North West Health
Authorities, two Health Authorities in North Wales and Shropshire. It also provides
significant paediatric support to the Isle of Man.

13
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19.2

19.3

20.

20.1

Alder Hey is a tertiary referral hospital for many conditions. Specialist areas include
bone marrow transplant, burns, cleft lip and palate, cancer, renal replacement, spinal
injuries, cardiology and cranio facial surgery. It is a leader in the field of medical
research into respiratory disease, paediatric surgery and infectious diseases. It is

a respected research establishment in the field of oncology, neurology, radiology,
rheumatology and ophthalmology.

The reputation of Alder Hey has been adversely affected by the revelation of organ
retention, particularly that resulting from Professor van Velzen’s practices. Parental
reaction both to the organ retention and the handling of the situation which developed
as a result in 1999 has adversely affected morale at Alder Hey and the influx of funds.
Nevertheless, Alder Hey still attracts clinicians of the highest calibre in its specialist fields.

University Institute of Child Health

The University Institute of Child Health (ICH) is a purpose built unit on the Alder Hey
site. It is under the management and control of University of Liverpool. It houses the
well known and respected heart collection spoken of by Professor Anderson at the
Bristol Inquiry. Clinicians at Alder Hey have access to the collection for educational
and surgical purposcs. The collection has been of great value in the development of
cardiac treatment and surgery, and has been instrumental in reducing the mortality rate
in cardiac surgery.
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Alder Centre

The Alder Centre is based at the Royal Liverpool Children’s NHS Trust on the Alder
Hey site and was established 11 years ago. Its purpose is to provide bereavement
counselling and support. The basic running costs have been met by Alder Hey, but the
cost of various projects has been met from fundraising activities. The centre was
established by a small group of healthcare professionals in partnership with bereaved
parents. The centre provides counselling and support for anyone affected by the death
of a child whether the death has occurred in hospital, at home or in the community.

Site Visits

The Panel visited Alder Hey, the ICH and Myrtle Street and viewed all the collections.

Visits to Myrtle Street included close inspection of the basement areas where many

of the containers were stored between 1993 and 1999. We saw a representative sample
of the containers and their contents. The Chairman and Mrs Powell also visited the
University of Liverpool Pathology Department in the Duncan Building at the Royal
Liverpool University Hospital (RLUH). The Solicitor to the Inquiry, Stephen Jones,
visited the Unit of Ophthalmology at the RLUH to view the eye collection. He also
inspected a number of files at the Office of HM Coroner for Liverpool. We are grateful
to the present Coroner, Mr Andre Rebello, for his assistance.

i e s s o o e St e s e

From the outset we used a LiveNote computer system which provided a real time
transcript of oral hearings. A hard copy transcript of each day’s evidence was available
shortly after each day’s evidence and copied to solicitors representing the particular
witnesses heard that day. The friendly expertise of Claire Stanley, LiveNote Accredited
Reporter, and Jacqueline Gleghomn, Specialist Editor, was much appreciated.

The documents obtained were scanned onto a computerised document management
system. Witnesses were referred to relevant documents immediately on screen as
required. They had been put on notice in their Salmon letters of those documents.

Immediately witnesses concluded their evidence they were reminded of the confidential
nature of the Inquiry and instructed not to reveal any evidence or document relating to
their examination.

15



The Royal Liverpool Children’s Inquiry

24.

24.1

24.2

243

24.4

24.5

Main Objective

Our main objective was to examine the long history of organ retention following post
mortem examination. We received evidence of the practice from about 1948. We have,
however, already indicated that our major concern was to look at the practice following
the introduction of the relevant provisions of the Human Tissue Act 1961. The Act
provided that the person in lawful possession of the body must “having made such
reasonable enquiry as may be practicable’ have ‘no reason to believe’ that ‘any
surviving relative of the deceased objects to the body being used in particular for ...
medical education and research purposes’.

We considered the position following a Coroner’s post mortem examination, which
does not require consent, but is ordered by the Coroner based on information from the
clinician reporting the death. We studied the obligation to establish ‘lack of objection’
in the event of a request to retain organs and tissue taken at Coroner’s post mortem
examination for medical education and research.

In relation to post mortem examination and research involving fetus we looked at the
Code of Practice set out in the ‘Review of the Guidance on the Research use of Fetuses
and Fetal Material’ published in July 1989 and commonly referred to as the
Polkinghome Report.

In particular we considered the heart collection and the huge store of body parts which
accumulated in Professor van Velzen’s time between 1988 and 1995. We also identified
a number of other collections including fetal and eye collections and a store of
children’s body parts.

We examined management procedures in an attempt to resolve how organ retention had
remained undisclosed for so many years and how it increased unchecked between 1988
and 1995.

Conclusions and Recommendations

16

We heard oral evidence from 43 parents who had already provided preliminary written
evidence. The written evidence of all the parents was given equally careful
consideration. We took evidence from 77 other witnesses, 40 of whom attended to give
oral evidence. In conjunction with the detailed evidence, document management system
and the LiveNote transcript, we were well placed to make our findings and
recommendations.
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The process we adopted was to look for confirmation in the documents and generally,
where there was a conflict between oral evidence and contemporaneous documents,
we preferred the document, in the absence of satisfactory explanation.
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1. Introduction

1.1 We spent considerable time assessing the written and oral evidence of the parents. The

1.2

content is powerful and should be highlighted. The following quotations are indicative
of the emotional force generated by organ retention and its subsequent revelation.

We can do no better than to let the parents describe their feelings in their own words.

On the death of their child and the issue of consenting to post mortem examination

1.3

‘1 just couldn’t think... I felt so empty and helpless... they shouldn’t be so quick... it’s
rude and they catch you at your most vulnerable moment.’

‘Not a lot that was said actually went in ... I was told it had to be done to check on

the surgeon ... I signed the paper through tears and just wanted to grieve at home. I feel
I was rushed into signing ... I feel that I should have been there to protect her ... I do
understand that these things need to be done but only with full permission and a full
explanation.’

‘When they ask you to sign the form you are in so much turmoil you could sign your
life away and would not know it.’

‘I wish they had explained things to us.’



The Parents

Parents’ reaction to learning of organ retention

1.4

‘It feels like body snatching. The hospital stole something from me. They have taken us
back 11 years in our healing process.’ '

‘They gave me skin and bone back.’
*Alder Hey stole 90% of my child.’
‘I feel devastated ... I am wondering how much of her body was left.’

‘T have learnt to live with my daughter’s death and now I have found out that they
removed her heart. It is like losing her all over again.’

‘Studying her brain would help explain why her brain did not form properly and it
might help treat the next child born with a similar condition. Unfortunately her brain
has not been studied. Instead it sits in a jar in a storeroom somewhere.”

Handling the news of organ retention

1.5

‘We are left feeling that full details are being withheld.’

‘Alder Hey gave the impression that as parents we had little or no right to know what
happened to our children after death.’

‘Alder Hey could not cope.’

‘On a personal basis 1 have found the representatives of Alder Hey to be very helpful,
available, open and honest when dealing with our individual situation.’

‘They have been helpful and regretful.’

‘We are suspicious of everything Alder Hey says.’

“They have been cold and it is all telephone calls.’

‘I have not spoken to anybody face to face.’

‘Inept and inconsiderate.’

‘Staff... have been as courteous and helpful as they can in the circumstances.’

‘We were surrounded by good people at Alder Hey and wish to extend our support
for them.’

‘There has been a huge lack of accuracy and secrecy.’

‘These poor people who have had to deal with us over the telephone. .. should be
given sympathy and counselling themselves.’

‘There has been a catalogue of public relations disasters that have only upset parents more.’
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On completing the preliminary evidence questionnaire

1.6

‘I am remembering things from 10 years ago that my mind put into a little black box.’

Our Inquiry looked back over a period of more than 40 years. Parents said:

L7

1.8

1.9

1.10

L1

1.12

“The death of a child is traumatic enough without having to relive it ten years later.’
‘Try to imagine having a second funeral 34 years after the first.’
‘We cremated our son in two separate boxes 31 years apart.’

We considered whether the passage of time has impaired the quality of the parents’
evidence. We also considered the distress and loneliness which many parents have
experienced over the years. It is possible that some parents will have suffered an
adverse psychological reaction because of the death of their child.

Even taking these matters into account each parent was recalling one of life’s major
events, namely the death of their child. It was a unique event for them and is liable to
remain imprinted upon their minds forever. We are concerned with their perception of
how their child was treated at death, how the issue of post mortem examination was
dealt with, how they reacted to the news of organ retention, how they reacted on
learning that they had not buried their child whole and of the need for a second or more
funerals. We are aware that we have only heard from those parents who have responded
to the Inquiry and to that extent they are self-selected. We are left to speculate about the
reaction of those who have not responded to the Inquiry. We were recently informed of
one parent who received a full list of retained organs relating to their deceased child
despite their stated preference not to know. These matters are analysed in Chapter 3.

We have asked Alder Hey to devise and implement an effective handling strategy, to
include psychological input, for additional parents who are likely to come forward
following publication of our Report. These matters are again dealt with in Chapter 3.

We have subjected the parents’ evidence to critical examination. There are likely to be
areas where inaccuracy prevails, particularly in respect of detail which they cannot or
subconsciously do not wish to remember. This might relate to the issue of whether or
not they signed a consent form or the full detail of conversations they had with
clinicians following the death. However, because of the unique circumstances of the
death of their child and the events of September 1999, when the issue of organ
retention became public, their evidence is entitled to respect and is worthy of very
careful consideration. More particularly, those who have had second and third funerals
have had no difficulty recalling such recent events.

Our overall impression of the evidence from parents is that the issues which confront
us are no respecter of socio-economic group or manner of life. There has been a huge
consistency of response with clearly recurring themes throughout. The love parents
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2.2

2.3

The Parents

showed for their children both in life and in death was plain to see. The care they
lavished upon them in life and as far as they were allowed in death was apparent.

The extent of their grief and distress was reflected in the eloquence and dignity with
which they gave their evidence. On many occasions we were deeply moved. It was
our privilege to share their evidence and in particular, photograph albums and baby
books whenever produced. The age of the child was of no consequence to the parents.
Whether stillborn or teenage, their children were deeply loved and valued as unique
individuals and family members.

Each parent has posed individual questions for which they seek answers. We explained
to those who gave evidence that it would be impossible to answer all questions
individually but our Report should help them understand how the situation developed
and how it should be prevented from recurring in the future.

The strength of the parents’ evidence is such that the only way to do it justice is to
include in a separate chapter (Chapter 14) faithful summaries of representative
evidence. Wherever possible we have endeavoured to use the parents’ own language
in the narrative. We have adopted the simple strategy of marking each summary with
the child’s first name, age and year of death. We do this as a mark of respect and also
as a permanent memory of their involvement in and contribution to the Inquiry, while
preserving the anonymity of their family, We commend the summaries to all who read
them for their compelling content, understandable and reasonable expression of
emotion, consistency of response and identification of recurrent concerns.

Death of Child

Many of the deaths occurred around the time of birth. Later deaths usually resulted
from malformation, disease, infection or accidents. Sometimes deaths occurred during
surgery or shortly thereafter. There were cases of older children dying from Hodgkin’s
disease and leukaemia.

Whatever the circumstances, the universal consequence of death has been grief.
Some parents were referred to a social worker but the majority spoke of a lack of
bereavement advice or counselling. They identified a great need for such a service.
Their evidence should lead to a better understanding of the consequences of death
including the issue of lack of objection or, as we prefer, fully informed consent to
post mortem examination.

Immediately following the death of their child many parents offered to donate organs to
save the life of another child in immediate need. The majority of offers were refused on
the basis that the organs had been damaged in the disease process which caused death.

There were several parents who carried organ donor cards with them. We were told that
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one or two teenagers involved in the organ retention issue had requested organ donor
cards themselves when they were alive. Several parents destroyed their cards when
they were told about organ retention and how it affected their child.

Parents described difficulty in understanding what was said to them by clinicians or
hospital staff because of their grief. From the sample questionnaires commenting on
hospital post mortems looked at by the Office of National Statistics, just 37 per cent of
parents could remember reading the consent form, whilst 44 per cent said they had not
read it. In the few cases where a pamphlet or booklet was made available to parents, they
had found it hard to understand because of their grief and distress. Too many parents,
46 per cent, were asked for consent to a post mortem within minutes of the death of
their child. There was little time for reflection, advice and counselling as appropriate.

Post Mortem Examination

3.1

32
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The vast majority of parents were told that a post mortem examination was to be
carried out. Surprisingly, few were told when or where it was to be carried out.
Generally, parents were not told what was involved in a post mortem examination.

Parents were given little information when a Coroner’s post mortem examination was
to be performed. A Coroner’s post mortem is demanded by law in certain circumstances
and for which consent is not required (see Chapter 9). When the Coroner’s process was
complete they were not asked for consent to the retention of organs for medical
education or research purposes.

When a hospital post mortem examination was to be performed, some 81 per cent of
parents (sample as above) said they were not told specifically that they could object.

A hospital post mortem requires consent or more properly ‘lack of objection’. When
they did consent almost all the parents thought it was to the taking of tissue sufficient
for microscopic examination and not the retention of organs. Indeed, no parent could
recall being advised that they could object to the retention of organs. There was no
consistency as to who dealt with establishing consent or lack of objection with parents.
It was sometimes the clinician, but more usually a junior doctor or even a member of
the nursing staff who dealt with establishing consent or lack of objection.

Many parents described being placed under pressure to consent to a hospital post
mortem. In several cases parents spoke of the prospect of a Coroner’s post mortem
being used to obtain consent to a hospital post mortem examination. There were
instances where clinicians allowed one parent to sign the consent form although aware
that the other parent’s wishes were not known.
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The Parents

Following Coroner’s post mortem examination there was little evidence of contact or
discussion between the Coroner, parents, clinician or pathologist. Only a minority of
parents were informed of the contents of the post mortem report. Few parents were
referred for genetic counselling even if the need was established. Some parents had
further children before the results of post mortem examination were made known to
them. One family lost two children close together from the same congenital heart
condition. They had never seen the post mortem report on their first child.

Retention

Many parents did not realise and were not told that the organs would be removed from
the body, weighed and subjected to naked eye examination in the post mortem process.
Those who were aware that organs were removed for this purpose were always
reassured that they would be restored to the body prior to the funeral. It was rare for
any parent to be told that an organ or organs would be retained.

The parents described the first funeral as dignified and respectful. Each parent believed
that they were laying their child to rest intact. In some cases, particularly with regard
to stillbirths, parents were told that their child would be buried in a dignified and
respectful manner within the hospital grounds. They were not told where or when.

News of Organ Retention

The realisation that many children had been buried without their organs caused their
parents shock and distress. The parents’ summaries in Chapter 14 contain accounts
of personal reaction to the news.

Many parents were drip-fed information about what had or had not been retained. There
was unacceptable delay between initial contact and the subsequent disclosure of what
had been retained. There were too many instances of the initial information being
inaccurate. Neither Alder Hey nor the University had an individual record of organs
retained from each child following post mortem examination, nor did they have an
individual record of organs used for research. They should have done.
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Accordingly there were unnecessary delays, confusion and inaccuracies, the cumulative
effect of which greatly added to the distress suffered by parents.

There was neither a proper system nor a uniform approach as to how to deal with parents.
There does not appear to have been any handling strategy based upon psychological
advice. Under these circumstances the telephone and correspondence were
unsatisfactory means of communication. There should have been face to face meetings.

The attitude of Alder Hey has been described as insensitive and arrogant. Some parents
who described Alder Hey’s treatment of their children in life as ‘outstanding’ have
changed their view because of organ retention and the handling issues. What is
described is evidence of a system based upon poor crisis management.

Some parents have had to have three funerals, particularly those involved in the very
recent revelation of the cerebellum (part of the brain) collection in August 2000. Some
have had the further indignity of samples being taken from retained organs without
consent immediately prior to their return. Parents wondered how such a situation could
arise. They asked why organs were retained following Coroner’s or hospital post
mortem examinations without their consent or a record being kept of organs retained.
They also asked why there was no record of organs used for research, and no regular
stock-take or audit. In particular they could not understand why there was no current
list of retained organs compiled before news of organ retention becoming public. This
would have avoided the unacceptable delay between initial contact being established
with Alder Hey and the later provision of details of organ retention, some of which
were still inaccurate. Even this process was fraught with error.

QOverview

Parents contrasted the very full information they received about the treatment of their
children in life with the absence of information in death. Had the circumstances of
death received equal attention then they would have understood the intended purpose of
post mortem examination, as well as the benefits to society of retaining organs or tissue
for medical education and research purposes. They would then have been more inclined
to give proper informed consent.

Openness and transparency requires robust organisational procedures. The most
important function of post mortem examination is diagnostic. All processes where
tissues are examined are aimed at identifying underlying disease. The other functions
of post mortem examination, including medical education, research and audit, are
desirable for the purpose of improving the health of future generations.



7.3

7.4

8.1

8.2

8.3

The Parents

There will always be parents who, for personal reasons, will refuse a request for post
mortem examination. Nevertheless, if the death is within the parameters of the
Coroner’s jurisdiction, then post mortem examination will be carried out to establish
the cause of death. On the evidence we feel that many more parents would be willing to
consider consenting to their children’s organs or tissue being retained for the purpose of
medical education and research, if the matter were dealt with openly and respectfully.

There is clearly a social need for more post mortem examinations to encourage and
assist improvements in the health of future generations. The majority of parents
recognise this. The major impediment to its achievement has been the unnecessarily
paternalistic attitude of the medical profession based on restricting information about
post mortem procedure, organ retention, medical education and research, The parents
have been systematically deprived of information which they had a right to know.

Summary of Parents’ Criticisms and Suggestions

This is a summary of the concerns we heard from parents, together with some of their
suggestions about how to address them. Parents fecl they have the right to information about
their child and his or her treatment in both life and death. They want to see systems in place
which can help them make sense of their child’s death and feel confident that they

have the relevant information. They want the confidence to be able to put their children
to rest.

Concern:
That undue pressure was brought on parents to sign the consent form.
Suggestions:

® Aliow time for parents to reflect after death before discussing the issue of post
mortem consent.

® Ask a psychologist to help develop a sensitive approach to giving parents the news
about the death of their child, and then move on to the issue of consent.

Concern:
Parents would like advice and support.
Suggestions:

¢ Offer bereavement advice and counselling following a child’s death, addressing
feelings such as guilt.

25



The Royal Liverpool Children's Inquiry

26

8.4

8.5

8.6

Provide formal advice and support not only to parents but also to brothers, sisters
and perhaps other close relatives.

Concern:

Parents need to know that when they give consent their wishes will be followed.

Suggestions:

Parents will be told if there is need for retention of organs or tissue for microscopy.
Organs will be reunited with the body after post mortem and before funeral.

There are legal restrictions to prevent undisclosed retention without parental consent.
Full details of organs and tissue retained will be recorded and put on a database.

Parents are told what will be the purpose for retaining organs or tissue.

Concern:

Parents need to know that a checking procedure is in place, and to be confident that
swift action will be taken to correct mistakes.

Suggestions:

Clear systems should be set up to deal with this type of issue (avoiding the hospital
being defensive and unco-operative, and over-concerned with damage limitation).

Prevent delays in supply of information by putting in place a proper management
structure and database.

Train hospital personnel to deal with parents in this kind of crisis.
Audit the post mortem examination procedure regularly.
Keep careful control over research on human organs and tissue.

Establish a clear line of responsibility for issues like this, and discipline individuals
if necessary.

Concern:

Parents did not know their rights to refuse hospital post mortem examination.

Suggestions:

Parents need to know of their right to limit post mortem examination and of their
right to object/consent,
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® Information given to parents should be in non-medical language and clearly state
options and possible outcomes after the post mortem examination.

¢ There should be clear guidelines of post mortem examination and procedure,
including the different types of post mortem examination and the process.

® Parents’ instructions should be obtained and followed.

® Explain the meaning of tissue and organ.

Concern:

No system or procedure for informing parents of post mortem examination results.
Suggestions:

® Post mortem examination and reports should be part of the individual’s medical
record.

® If parents wish they should be kept informed at every stage.
® GPs should have responsibility to follow up a child’s death with the parents.
Parents would like to be dealt with sensitively.

Parents want to know why the practice of organ retention has gone on for so long,
without their knowledge.

We have paid particular regard to the parents’ suggestions in considering our
recommendations, particularly relating to the handling issues at the end of Chapter 3.
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September 1999 to date
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1. Organ Retention is Revealed

1.1 On 7 September 1999 Professor R H Anderson, Professor of Morphology at the
Hospital for Sick Children in London (Great Ormond St Hospital), described to the
Bristol Inquiry the benefits of heart retention for the purpose of study and teaching.

He identified heart collections around the country and made particular mention of the
excellence of the collection at Alder Hey which dated from 1948. His evidence brought
the issue of organ retention at Alder Hey into the public domain.

1.2 At Alder Hey, however, organ retention had not been limited to hearts and lungs.
Between 1988 and 1995 (which we describe as ‘the van Velzen years’), there had been
systematic full-scale removal of organs. The organs were retained from Coroner’s and
hospital post mortem examinations carried out in the mortuary at Alder Hey. They were
stored in the pathology department at Alder Hey until late 1989 when Professor van
Velzen’s department moved to virtual sele occupancy of Myrtle Street. The organs
continued to accumulate within Myrtle Street until 1995.
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Handiing of the Organ Retention Issue September 1999 to date

In 1995 Alder Hey and the University had considered how to deal with this accumulated
material. This matter is more fully analysed in Chapter 8. On 24 April 1995 Professor
Helen Carty, Clinical Director of Support Services at Alder Hey, circulated a
memorandum to a number of clinicians enclosing a list of post mortem examinations
where histology had not been completed on retained ‘organs’. The following day she
also wrote to the Chief Executive at Alder Hey, Ms Hilary Rowland, about delay in
carrying out histology on retained ‘organs’. The memorandum was circulated on three
or four occasions. Clinicians marked those cases in which they wanted the organs
retained for histology. These organs were then transferred to Alder Hey. The hearts and
lungs in some cases were sent to the Institute of Child Health (ICH) at Alder Hey. The
large majority of organs remained at Myrtle Street to be used for research purposes as
and when required. These arrangements were confirmed at a meeting in the Department
of Pathology at Alder Hey on 21 November 1995. An opportunity was therefore missed
by the University and Alder Hey to list and catalogue all the organs which had
accumulated at Myrtle Street until April 1995. This was the background against which
the revelation of the heart collection was made in September 1999.

The revelation generated some local media interest and on 18 September 1999 the
issue of organ retention was reported on the BBC North West Regional News. On
20 September Ms Rowland gave an assurance that the practice of organ retention
at Alder Hey had not differed from that at other hospitals. The collection of organs
at Myrtle Street was such that this assurance was inaccurate,

Following the revelation many parents telephoned Alder Hey to find out whether their
child’s heart had been retained. On the second day of receiving calls Ms Rowland asked
Mrs Karen England, Acting Director of Operational Services, to manage the incident.
Mrs England was chosen because of her background and experience of having worked
in the histology laboratory. For the first few days management arrangements were
informal but soon a team of senior staff, managerial and clinical, was convened. The
purpose of the team was to agree the strategy for managing the incident and to make
decisions which would be carried out by those individuals with delegated responsibility.

Later in the first week parents began to query whether, if hearts had been retained,
other organs had also been kept. It was at this point that Mrs England told Ms Rowland
that multiple organs had been taken at post mortem examinations and had remained at
Myrtle Street when the histology department had left the building in 1995. Ms Rowland
gave evidence to the Inquiry that until this point she had no knowledge of the full extent
of the organ retention. However, the documentary evidence discussed in Chapter 8

Part 8 of ‘the van Velzen years’ suggests that in 1995 Ms Rowland should have known
of the existence of a substantial collection at Myrtle Street.

Mr Paul Dearlove, a senior Medical Laboratory Scientific Officer (MLSO), was
instructed to go to Myrtle Street to establish the position. Multiple organs had been
retained from approximately 850 post mortem examinations carried out between
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September 1988 and December 1995. There were between one and three containers for
each child. In total there were approximately 2,000 containers holding multiple organs
and many pieces and fragments of tissue.

The Myrtle Street building (see photographs at page 12) consisted of two floors and a
basement, with many rooms off the main ground floor area and the first floor. The
basement had two rooms and a series of cellars at the rear (see photographs on page
32). All had low lighting and low ceilings and it was not possible to stand up straight in
all the areas. The majority of the containers were stored in the cellars in the basement,
with others in the ‘cut-up’ room and two storerooms off it on the ground floor.

The containers in the basement were dirty and covered with thick black dust. The area
has now been cleaned and is illustrated in the photographs at page 32. The cleaned
containers are now stored at Alder Hey in the pathology department as itlustrated at
page 33, Tdentification of some was difficult due to the conditions in which they had
been kept. Some of the labels were damp and had come off. The writing on some of the
containers had faded over time. On closer inspection some of the organs were poorly
preserved because adequate levels of formalin had not been maintained.

Mr Dearlove explained to Mrs England that at the time the histology department had
left the building in 1995 all the containers were filed in chronological order with
multiple containers on the same case stored together. It was obvious that the containers
had been accessed since then. Some were out of sequence and multiple containers on
the same case had not been kept together. Many other containers were spread around
the building, some containing animal tissue, some human tissue taken from the organs
stored following post mortem examination, presumably for research work undertaken
by University staff. It was therefore clear from the outset that there could be no
guarantee that organs which remained in the containers were those originally taken

at post mortem examination.

Between 1988 and 1999 there was no proper record of retained organs, or of access
to them for research purposes at Myrtle Street. This factor alone has prevented the
University or Alder Hey from providing information to parents about organ retention
which was completely accurate and reliable.

On 27 September 1999 Ms Rowland briefed Professor Robert Tinston, Regional
Director at NHS Executive North West (Regional Office), and warned that this
constituted a major issue. He assured her that additional resources could be made
available if required.

As the number of queries from parents grew Ms Rowland decided to write to all
families whose child had died at Alder Hey, where the post mortem examination had
been performed at the hospital and where they had the addresses. She did not write to
the wider group of parents affected by the retention of hearts generally because the age
of the collection made the addresses unreliable. The letter was sent to parents affected
by deaths between 1988 and 1995. They were invited to contact Alder Hey to be told
whether their child’s organs had been retained.
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Over the weekend of 2-3 October 1999 Alder Hey attempted to catalogue the organs in
Myrtle Street. The containers were removed from the basement and other areas to the
ground floor and sorted in order of post mortem number and year. Twelve members of
staff worked a total of 151 hours and completed cases from 1988 to 1990. For the full
classification process two people worked together, one identifying the organs and the
other recording the data. Post mortem number, year and the name of the child were
verified by both individuals prior to identification of the organs. The organs were then
listed on an ‘histology record sheet’. Containers which could not be clearly identified
were kept to one side. If on further checking it was agreed that identification was
impossible they disposed of the specimens.

On 4 October 1999 the exercise continued but instead of individual organs being listed
they were classified into four groups: the brain, the heart, thoracic and abdominal
organs. The histology sheet was revised to reflect this. In her witness statement to the
Inquiry Ms Rowland explained,

We felt that generally that would be as much information as parents would want
or could emotionally cope with and the limitation of four groups would speed
the process up.’

Eleven members of staff worked a total of 123 hours over 4-5 October and completed
the outstanding cases from 1991 to 1995. When the later data was subsequently entered
into the computer the earlier data was amended to reflect the revised categories.

The following weekend, 9—10 October 1999, the hearts and lungs in the ICH were
catalogued. Eight pathology staff worked a total of 71 hours. The organs were classified
as ‘hearts’ or ‘hearts and lungs’ and whether they were ‘whole” or ‘part’. This
information was recorded on the ‘TCH record sheet’ together with the unique
alphanumeric identification code from the container. The record sheets were then
cross-checked against the ICH heart books so that the code could be linked to a name
and post mortem number.

Over both weekends Alder Hey asked the University for their help. Their request
was declined.

The cataloguing exercise was a priority and should have been carried out under the
direction of senior management with an experienced paediatric pathologist in day-to-
day control. The necessary staff should have been deployed to ensure that all organs at
Myrtle Street and the ICH were properly identified, listed and catalogued in relation to
the name of the baby or child and the relevant post mortem number. Even at this early
stage, the exercise identified the difficulties with existing records of organ retention
particularly at the ICH (see Chapter 7 Collections).
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The basement cellars at Myrtle Street (where containers were stored)
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Handling of the Organ Retention Issue 3epiember 1999 to date

Containers holding organs - now siored in accommeodation at Aider Hey
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Press Release Denies Knowledge at Alder He

In the interim Ms Rowland had issued a press release on 6 October 1999 saying that,

‘The hospital is devastated to learn that so many organs have been retained for
research without the knowledge of the hospital, its doctors or the parents.’

Dr Campbell Davidson, the Medical Director at Alder Hey, was present at the meeting
that sanctioned the press release. There is no evidence that he took instructions from the
clinical directors as to the contents of the press release before it was issued. Neither did
he check the accuracy of the statement for himself.

The Early Enquiries

In the first month of enquiries Alder Hey received 618 calls from parents. All parents
affected by organ retention were sent a letter of apology and offered three options:

® return of the organs to the family for a second funeral;
® retention of the organs for further rescarch;
® retention of the organs at Alder Hey pending the family’s decision.

Consideration was also given to a communal cremation for those who would find 1t too
distressing to organise a second funeral. Alder Hey offered to pay for the second funeral
providing the parents used a nominated funeral director.

When organs were returned to families they were firstly rechecked and a full list made
on a second histology record form. This replaced the first list (of four categories) in the
file as it contained more detail. A further list was completed when organs were put into
caskets in preparation for funeral. More tissue was lost in the casketing process. Some
parents came to witness the preparation. To avoid distress Alder Hey had disposed of
any messy or liquefied fragments and pieces of faecal matter. On one occasion a tongue
was deliberately disposed of in such circumstances.

In early October Dr Davidson asked the Royal College of Pathologists for assistance
with an internal inquiry into the practice of organ retention. The College nominated
Dr Stephen Gould, a respected consultant paediatric pathologist at the John Radcliffe
Hospital, Oxford. He undertook an enormous amount of work to provide an early
provisional report on 20 December 1999. His efforts were overtaken by the
appointment of this Inquiry and so his report is incomplete. We have obtained great
assistance from his expert professional involvement.
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Handling of the Organ Retention Issue September 1999 to date

Meanwhile, some parents began to express concern about the broad description of
organs they had received and requested more detail. Alder Hey’s response was that

any request for a full list of organs would be held for 48 hours to allow parents time

to reflect on whether they really wanted the information. In the meantime the list was
prepared. The intention was to save parents from further distress. The policy was
questioned by Mrs Wendy Natale from the Liverpool Eastern Community Health
Council (CHC) who said that waiting 48 hours for a list was likely to aggravate distress
and not save it. A further complaint was that communication with parents was by
telephone or in writing rather than face to face. Alder Hey was by now overwhelmed

at the extent of the crisis.

At a meeting of parents on 1 November 1999 they discussed their difficulties in
obtaining information from Alder Hey, calls not being returned and long delays in
securing the return of organs. All these difficulties should have been apparent to Alder
Hey. Despite assurances that parents would receive complete lists of retained organs
promptly, delays in excess of two weeks were common. The CHC told Ms Rowland
that she had a disaster on her hands which required a different strategy if the situation
were 1o be retrieved. It was described to her as ‘a juggernaut rolling down a hill out of
control’. Ms Rowland declined to attend a meeting with parents on the basis that she
had not been formally invited and it was inappropriate for her to attend.

Parents only received information if they asked for it and many did not know what

to ask for in the first place. They began to describe the attitude of Alder Hey as
deliberately obstructive and quite simply they did not trust Alder Hey. A support group
for parents called ‘Parents who Inter Their Young Twice’ was set up. It became known
as PITY II. This group was to represent and support parents and did so with resolve.
The group was instrumental in obtaining a change in the law to allow organs to be
cremated when a body has previously been buried (Statutory Instrument 2000 No 58).

In late November 1999 Alder Hey management offered to meet with PITY II when the
Gould report was completed to discuss its findings. However, on 3 December 1999 the
new HM Coroner for Liverpool, Mr Andre Rebello, suggested that organ retention was
unlawful and the Alder Hey situation became national news again, creating a media
scrimmage. Parents’ anxieties and concerns heightened. The Government responded
immediately by announcing that there would be an independent Inquiry.

Counselling

Facilities for counselling were urgently required. The Alder Centre had been offered but
was unsuitable to many parents. They did not wish to visit the site of their grief and
distress and they trusted Alder Hey even less by this stage.
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Before Christmas 1999 the CHC had compiled a list of local counselling services which
it passed on request to one of the social workers on the Alder Hey help line. Only then
did Alder Hey have a list. It is surprising that they had not obtained one from the outset.

Unauthorised Sampling of Retained Organs

In January 2000 it became public knowledge that Alder Hey had been taking small
samples of organs before their return without obtaining any further consent, or indeed
even telling the parents. It was justified by management as being necessary to complete
histology and to preserve the opportunity of advising parents as to any genetic
consequences following the death of their child. In most cases this would involve
histology on organs preserved in formalin for many years, rendering examination
difficult if not impossible. Alder Hey claimed that they had consent to sample organs
before return, based upon the consent given for the purpose of the original post mortem
examination. Witnesses from Alder Hey were later to concede to the Inquiry that the
original *consent” was invalidly obtained. It was also insensitive not to ask the parents
if they objected to the proposal to sample. This was accepted by Alder Hey when they
ceased taking further samples without specific consent. We have seen no evidence to
demonstrate that histology has yet been attempted in those cases.

Alder Hey continued to underestimate the effect of organ retention upon parents.
Following the publication of the Gould report Ms Rowland compounded her earlier
refusal to meet parents, indicating that it would now be inappropriate to discuss the
report due to the setting up of this Inquiry. Instead she suggested parental involvement
in revising the post mortem consent form.

Ms Therese Harvey, the Director of Human Resources, took over management of organ
retention in February 2000. Some parents found her to be helpful and approachable.
There were some improvements with the help line. Better information was made
available and administration improved.

This improvement was not maintained, with increasing complaints of delay, misinformation,
missing post mortem reports and discrepancy between post mortem reports and medical
records. Parents continued to complain about delays in second funerals and enquire
whether organs had been used in research. Alder Hey’s attitude was regarded as
defensive and unco-operative. There was still a lack of trust. Although some parents
felt that Alder Hey was helpful, attentive and considerate, they were a minority.

A natural consequence of providing more detailed information to parents was that more
questions were generated. For example, they wanted to know why organs had been
stockpiled, why in some instances their child had been taken from the hospital where
death occurred to Alder Hey for post mortem examination without their knowledge or
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consent and why the bodies of stillborn children had been stored for many years. It was
impossible to provide complete answers in the absence of proper records relating to the
source and usage of organs from each child.

On 23 March 2000 the Chair of the Trust, Mr Frank Taylor, resigned. The trigger was
the Stephen White case, the full facts of which are reported in Chapter 4. Firstly
Stephen’s mother had been told that his heart had been retained. Later she was told that
the heart and other organs had been retained. These were subsequently identified as
brain and lung. A second funeral was arranged for 17 March 2000. On 15 March Ms
Rowland visited Mrs White and told her that Stephen’s organs had been mistakenly
destroyed. This led to the Parliamentary Under Secretary of State (Lords), Lord Hunt,
demanding a report on the incident within 24 hours from the Chief Executive. Ms
Rowland provided the first report. There was insufficient detail in it and Lord Hunt
asked for a second report which was prepared by the Regional Office. Lord Hunt
remained concerned about the level of detail in the second report. However, there was
an overriding priority to respond to the parents. He asked officials to inform them and
the media, in that order, as a matter of urgency.

Lord Hunt’s reaction to both reports was in our view correct and justified. The
explanation of what had happened was publicised together with the announcement of a
new Chair of the Trust and new interim guidance from the Chief Medical Officer to the
NHS on how to deal with bereaved parents and post mortem examinations. Lord Hunt
asked this Inquiry to investigate the circumstances of Stephen’s case. He had every
reason to act as he did and we confirm his action.

The case of Stephen White also raised an issue about fragments of organs. The report
prepared for Lord Hunt suggested that the hospital had a policy of destroying
fragments, which were not considered ‘organs’. If this was so then until 21 February
2000, when an instruction from Secretary of State was received to the effect that no
further tissue should be destroyed, fragments of organs were destroyed without
reference to parents.

In her evidence to the Inquiry Mrs England explained the reason for the policy. A
decision was taken at the outset to inform parents of the retention of either whole
organs or substantial parts of organs, but not the many small pieces of fragments, some
of which were unidentifiable. Small fragments would have been present in most of the
containers. The stated justification was to avoid misleading parents into thinking whole
organs had been retained when they had not. The real significance of the concealment
of the fragments lies in the inherent disrespect shown to the children’s organs, As
information unfolded the parents’ reaction resulted in them seeking everything
belonging to their child including wax blocks, slides, X-rays and photographs.
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As aresult of the Stephen White case Ms Rowland ordered a further visual check of
all organs retained to prevent further errors. She gave assurances that errors of this
kind would not be repeated. However, as the cataloguing of the organs in July 2000 by
Dr Gordan Vujanic, Consultant Paediatric Pathologist from Cardiff, shows (see below),
these assurances could not be supported.

In succession to Mr Frank Taylor, the Secretary of State appointed Mrs Judith
Greensmith as Chair of the Trust. She surveyed her inheritance and in her evidence to
the Inquiry confirmed her initial view that the issue of organ retention had been
‘handled on the hoof and people had reacted to crises as they arose’. She gained no
sense of any ‘audit trail” over what had been decided and why. Ms Rowland stood down
and a new Acting Chief Executive, Mr Anthony Bell, was appointed. Mrs Greensmith,
with assistance from Regional Office, recruited Mrs Kate Jackson, Director of Primary
Care at Morecambe Bay Health Authority, as Project Director to handle the organ issue.
She was to manage return of organs and liaison with families.

A Serious Incident Project Board (SIPB) was set up with a wide group of people
represented. In addition to Mrs Greensmith there was Mr Bell, Mrs Jackson,

Ms Harvey, Mr Colin Brown from Regional Office, Mr Allan Mowat (the solicitor
representing the Trust), representatives from the University, Liverpool Women’s
Hospital, Liverpool Health Authority, the CHC and two family representatives.

Mrs Greensmith also decided to establish a Family Liaison Group comprising ten
representatives of affected families with the intention of looking at policy issues and
how best to deal with family sensitivities. It was intended that the work would be
closely monitored by Regional Office who were to receive fortnightly reports
coinciding with the fortnightly Project Board meetings.

Mrs Greensmith knew that information had dribbled out to parents in two, three or four
letters over a period of eight months and she regretted it, Information had had to be
gathered from different locations. Mrs Greensmith intended to pull everything together.
Following her appointment the atmosphere was said to be optimistic. The policies of
openness, better relationships with parents and resolution of long-standing problems
were the stated aim. Alder Hey apologised for past handling errors and expressed a
willingness to resolve the situation.

In a press release of 23 March 2000 announcing the appointment of the new Chair,
Lord Hunt confirmed that he had instructed the Regional Office to establish robust
monitoring procedures to ensure that Alder Hey carried out its responsibilities in
dealing with the return of organs effectively and appropriately. Professor Tinston was to
take personal responsibility for ensuring arrangements were in place. As a further step,
at the instigation of Lord Hunt, Alder Hey retained the services of Professor James
Underwood, a respected paediatric pathologist from Sheffield, to advise on the future
structuring of pathology services.
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Handling of the Organ Retention Issue September 1999 to date

The task for the new regime was daunting. They inherited continuing problems related
to sloppy mistakes, poor preparation, incomplete and incorrect information and staff
working under excessive pressure. Mrs England and Mrs Waring should have been
asked what the protocol was for organ retention following post mortem examination
carried out by Professor van Velzen and his team (see Part 2 of “The van Velzen Years’,
paragraphs 10.3 and 10.4). The practice, followed in nearly every case, was to retain
every organ. The high incidence of containers lacking a tull set of organs, coupled with
the relatively low level of documented research, leads to the irresistible inference that
organs have been lost. There is evidence of disposal as this section illustrates but none
of commercial use. Alder Hey should have told the parents from the outset that what
remained at Myrtle Street, unless all the organs were present, was simply what was left
following research, the records of which were virtually non-existent.

Alder Hey still did not appear to fully appreciate or understand the parents’ concerns.
They sent out badly copied and illegible case notes. They promised information that did
not arrive or arrived late. Link workers were re-allocated without the knowledge of
parents involved. As the number and seriousness of problems increased they did not
have any heightened sense of concern or urgency. They sought no additional resource
despite the adverse handling outcomes with all the regrettable implications for parents.

The parents’ representatives and the CHC described most of these problems in detail

to Mrs Greensmith. They told her how Alder Hey had mishandled the situation so far.
Mrs Greensmith could not have been in any doubt about the problems which she had
inherited and which persisted.

In line with the stated policy of openness, the new management team now decided to
send a definitive list of all organs retained to the parents. For some parents this was

the third of its kind. The first communication with some parents had simply been
information as to whether the heart (possibly with lungs) had been retained. The second
described four groups of organs retained. In many cases there was a third more detailed
list. Now there was this ‘definitive’ list. The list specified organs from brain to
reproductive organs, skin, bone and muscle.

The content of the letter and the comprehensive nature of the list revealing that all
internal organs had been retained shocked many parents. They questioned how and why
it differed from previous lists they had received. Questions relating to organs missing
from the earlier lists remained unanswered and parents could not trust the information
received. Alder Hey should have informed parents that the only information they could
provide related to what remained and not to what was taken.

Finally Alder Hey declared a ‘moratorium’ in June 2000 under which they would
refrain from further disclosure for six weeks in an effort to catalogue precisely what
remained. Dr Vujanic, the independent paediatric pathologist from Cardift, was retained
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to carry out the exercise. For the first time Alder Hey seemed to have recognised that
this was the starting point for answering the parents’ questions. However, even this
exercise was doomed to failure because of past mistakes and the lack of records.

The ‘moratorium’ prompted a further deterioration in the relationship between parents
and Alder Hey in July and August 2000. The parents commented that the situation had
reverted to the way it had been before March 2000. They called into question the
independence of the SIPB.

University Perspective

At this stage it is necessary to put the position of the University into perspective.

Between 1989 and 1995 Professor van Velzen worked at Myrtle Street on clinical duties
for Alder Hey and on research for the University. He favoured the research work as will
appear in ‘The van Velzen Years’. The organs removed at post mortem examination at
Alder Hey were collected at Myrtle Street where they were regarded as invaluable
research material. Research records, the responsibility generally of the University, were
unreliable throughout. The collection grew unmonitored and unchecked.

In 1995 Alder Hey and the University negotiated over the future of the organs. As
discussion in Chapter 8 Part 8 of ‘“The van Velzen Years’ will show, most of the organs
were left to the University at Myrtle Street where they remained until 1999. During this
period the University had sole occupancy of Myrtle Street and still made no attempt to
catalogue either the organs or their use. They failed to assist Alder Hey in recent
months and in fact have never fully catalogued the organs.

University and Alder Hey Relationship

By July 2000 the parents’ representatives were also well aware from attending the SIPB
of the poor relationship between Alder Hey and the University. The University was
difficult about providing and sharing information. Invited to join the SIPB, they had
attended only 4 out of the first 11 meetings, claiming that they were merely observers.
The University has consistently failed to acknowledge its proper responsibility on the
issuc of organ retention.

One week after the ‘moratorium’ was lifted in August 2000 a special meeting of the
SIPB was convened. The purpose of the meeting was threefold:
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® to confirm that the new detailed lists were complete and revealed that organs had
been retained from 62 children whose parents Alder Hey had previously told were
not affected;

® to reveal the existence of a previously overlooked cerebellum collection;
® to reveal that many hearts at the ICH could not be identified.

Alder Hey issued a press release referring to the first two issues but omitting reference
to the third. Parents on the SIPB had argued for and obtained a 24-hour embargo on
the press release to give them the opportunity of warning parents of the impending
revelations. There was insufficient time to complete this exercise. Further distress for
parents was the inevitable consequence.

Alder Hey chose to inform parents of this latest ‘definitive’ list by telephone. They did
not check if they were alone, or had support before telling them about the list of organs.
Tt was another example of lessons not having been leamed from September 1999. Link
workers were described as caring in the way in which they passed on the news, but this
did not reduce the impact of receiving over the telephone yet another version of what
organs had been retained.

Cerebellum Collection

The cerebellum collection was gathered from brains retained by Professor van Velzen
and used for research from 1995 onwards. In August 2000 Alder Hey revealed that 146
families were affected and in particular 58 sets of parents who had already had second
funerals had to be told that there were cerebella yet to be buried. Examination of the
brains before their return for burial would have revealed the absence of the cerebellum.
The University surely held back the existence of the collection in late 1999 for a reason
rather than inadvertently. The only reason that occurs to the Inquiry is in order to
complete research. They retained the collection despite public knowledge of return of
organs for second funerals and the inevitability of third funerals or else concealment.

The consequence of the announcement of the collection was that parents were yet again
dismayed, disillusioned and distressed. Parents were telephoned at home with the news
and were told that the cerebellum belonging to their deceased child had been retained.
One parent was told that their child’s cerebellum had been retained and was later told
that it had not. Alder Hey thought they were in a position to give parents clear answers
to all the outstanding issues and resolve past errors. They still have not told the parents
that the general practice was to remove every organ from every child between
September 1988 and the end of 1995.
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Another issue emerged. Some parents became aware that Alder Hey was still retaining
blocks and shides taken from organs and requested their return. Alder Hey’s response
has been inconsistent, depending upon how they perceived the likely reactions of
parents. Sometimes they have dented the existence of blocks and slides. On occasions
they have returned them. Sometimes they have claimed that they cannot be returned as
they constitute a medical record, on other occasions they have claimed that the blocks
and slides constitute a medical record which may not be returned until ten years have
elapsed. The policy of openness and honesty was compromised.

The case of Christopher, who died in 1988, aptly summarises general feeling among
parents. On 5 September 2000 Christopher’s father wrote to the Inquiry complaining
that he had asked the SIPB what had happened to the remainder of his son’s organs.
At the outset he had been told that his son’s heart, lungs and brain had been retained.
Later he received a comprehensive list of other organs which had been removed at
post mortem examination. He asked where these organs were, but the response was
inconclusive. Karen England misrepresented that Professor van Velzen’s practice was
to return organs to the body before burial. Christopher’s father contacted Professor van
Velzen directly and he correctly denied the practice. The organs remain unaccounted
for even by the end of October 2000. Christopher’s father was also told that blocks and
slides taken at post mortem examination were part of the medical record and could not
be returned, despite the fact that Christopher had died more than ten years earlier. The
pious hope was expressed that explanations given would help to put his father’s mind
at rest. The central concern remains unanswered.

Conclusions

We have come to the following conclusions:

® The University and Alder Hey missed many opportunities to rein in and control
Professor van Velzen in the period 1988 to 1995.

® The University and Alder Hey failed regularly to record access to the containers
for whatever purpose.

® The University and Alder Hey failed to investigate post mortem practice in the
period 1988 to 1995 which would have indicated that all organs were to be retained
in every case.

® The University and Alder Hey should have retained a paediatric pathologist to head
a team to catalogue the retained organs and fragments in September 1999.

¢ The catalogue would have revealed that it was impossible to account accurately for
all the organs retained.
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* The University and Alder Hey will never be able accurately to tell parents what has
happened to every organ of every child who died between 1988 to 1995.

® The University has never accepted its responsibility in the matter and has left Alder
Hey to make a sequence of mistakes.

® Alder Hey have made four or five separate attempts to provide parents with accurate
information relating to organ retention, not learning from and compounding mistakes
made in each previous attempt.

* The cerebellum collection should have been identified and revealed earlier by both
the University and Alder Hey.

® Alder Hey failed to make provision for face to face communication of the news
to parents.

® Alder Hey failed to make appropriate provision for advice, counselling and support
to affected families.

We appreciate that in September 1999 Alder Hey was faced with a unique situation in
terms of the amount and condition of organs at Myrtle Street. They had no control over
the timing of the revelation at Bristol relating to the heart collection at the ICH. This
was followed by an unprecedented number of parents requiring detailed information
about organs retained from their children over an extensive period of time.

Recommendations

To prevent mishandling of this kind in the future we make the following
recommendations:

® Serious Incident Procedures should be developed and put in place.

* |n the event of a serious incident the Chief Executive and Trust Board shall devise
a suitable Serious Incident Procedure similar to those already in place for major
disasters and review it from time to time making any necessary alterations.

® When the procedure has been devised and prior to implementation the NHS
Executive Regional Office shall assess its suitability and thereafter manage its
performance, devising and instigating any necessary alterations from time to time.

*® In devising a Serious Incident Procedure the Chief Executive and Trust Board shall
consider the need for a serious incident team independent of the hospital.

® In devising a Serious Incident Procedure the Chief Executive and Trust Board shall
consider the need for urgent professional counselling:
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— A proportion of individuals within any group is always likely to require
psychological support in the aftermath of disaster.

— An individual within the serious incident team shall be nominated to take
responsibility for the arrangements and the identification of all those in need.

— Suitably trained practitioners shall provide the counselling.

® In devising a Serious Incident Procedure the Chief Executive and Trust Board shall
take advice from and where necessary include within the serious incident team
appropriate experts in bereavement, pathological reactions to bereavement and
therapy.

® The Chief Executive and Trust Board shall make available suitably trained staff for
implementing the Serious Incident Procedure.

® The Chief Executive and Trust Board shall inform all staff when a Serious Incident
Procedure is in force.

¢ The Chief Executive and Trust Board shall ensure the proper debriefing and support
of all staff associated with a serious incident,

® Universities and other public bodies shall adopt compatible procedures when acting
in conjunction with an NHS serious incident.

10.2  Records should be reviewed and updated and an audit trail should be developed and put
in place.

® The Chief Executive and the Trust Board shall review and update medical and
pathology records to include, preferably on computer and cross-referenced, the
following information:

— name, medical record reference number and date of birth;

date, place of death and death certificate;

— namec and address of next of kin;

whether Coroner’s or hospital post mortem examination;

date of consent for hospital post mortem examination;
— names of pathologist and those in attendance;

— post mortem examination reference number;

— date of examination;

— date of preliminary/final post mortem reports;



date histology completed;
— record of specific instructions from the Coroner or clinicians;

— record of retained organs, samples, wax blocks, slides, photographs, X-rays, date
and method of dispersal or disposal;

— case notes;

— signed consent form;

— copy of any other relevant correspondence or notes;

— name and address of general practitioner;

— date post mortem report sent to general practitioner;

- record of communication of findings to the next of kin.

University records shall provide a confidential audit trail back to the clinical record.

University records shall identify receipt, use, dispersal and ultimate disposal of any
organ or sample.
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Chapter 4. Special Cases for Investigation

Following reference to the Inquiry of Stephen White
by Lord Hunt, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State {Lords),
on 16 March 2000

Contents

Stephen White — 2 weeks
Christopher and Kathryn — 15 years 3 months; 15 years
Stephen — 2 years 1 month

Simone — 3 years 4 months

1. Introduction

1.1 On 16 March 2000 Lord Hunt requested that we investigate the circumstances of the
case of Stephen White. During the course of the Inquiry we came across a number
of similar serious cases, upon which we also focus in this chapter. We have carefully
analysed all the evidence of each case individually. We begin with Stephen White.

Stephen White - 2 Weeks

2.  Background

46
52
56
57

2.1 Stephen James White was born on 12 May 1992 with congenital heart discase. He died

during cardiac surgery on 26 May 1992. A Coroner’s post mortem examination was
carried out.

2.2 His mother was told in late 1999 by Alder Hey that her son’s heart had been retained.

Later she received a letter saying that the heart and other organs had been retained. She
telephoned to clarify what was meant by ‘other organs’ and was told that the lungs and

brain had also been retained. On 9 February 2000 she confirmed that she wished to
make funeral arrangements. On 14 March 2000 she advised Alder Hey that a second

funeral had been arranged for 17 March 2000 and a pathology technician was asked to
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locate the organs. At this point it was realised that the containers relating to Stephen
White were empty. On 15 March 2000, two days before the funeral, the Chief
Executive, Ms Hilary Rowland, visited Mrs White at home and told her that Stephen’s
organs had been mistakenly destroyed. She apologised for the distress that this caused.

Reaction

Ms Rowland reported to the NHS Executive North West Regional Office on 14 March
2000. On 15 and 16 March 2000 they advised Lord Hunt, Parliamentary Under
Secretary of State (Lords), of what had happened. He instructed the Regional Office
to keep Mrs White fully informed of developments.

On 16 March 2000 Lord Hunt issued a press release recording his shock and anger.
His reaction reflected that of parents involved in the organ retention issue. He
immediately called for the resignation of the Trust Chairman, Mr Frank Taylor. He
referred the Stephen White case to this Inquiry and stated that any disciplinary action,
if appropriate, would be taken following publication of our findings. On the same day
Lord Hunt confirmed in a media interview that the results of the report which he had
requisitioned would be made public.

On 17 March 2000 the Trust, through Ms Rowland, provided Regional Office with the
report which was sent on to Lord Hunt. He was unhappy with the lack of detail in the
report and was disturbed by a number of aspects, highlighting both the lack of apparent
accountability within Alder Hey and the failure to include a proper action plan. He
demanded further information which Alder Hey provided to Regional Office the
following day. However, Regional Office felt that the information provided remained
inadequate and it was decided that Regional Office would now take responsibility for
drafting the report.

After Regional Office had met with Ms Rowland and the Acting Director of
Operations, Mrs Karen England, to clarify outstanding points, the report was redrafted
and submitted to Lord Hunt on 22 March 2000. In essence the report concluded that the
initial cataloguing of Stephen White’s organs had listed retention of the heart, brain,
lungs and abdominal organs. Mrs White had never been informed of the retention of
abdominal organs. However, a routine second check of the organs, undertaken for the
purpose of compiling a more detailed list, had revealed that the containers held only
the heart, lung, part brain and only ‘fragments’ of abdominal organs. As there was a
discrepancy between the two detailed visual checks the matter had been referred to
Mrs England. She had given instructions for a Medical Laboratory Scientific Officer
(MLSO) to dispose of the *fragments’ in accordance with an earlier decision made by
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Alder Hey that fragments, which were not considered organs, should be disposed of
to ‘avoid any confusion’. In error the entire contents of the containers had then been
disposed of with the fragments.

The report did not confirm the nature of the fragments, the date and place of destruction
or the identity of the person responsible for disposing of the organs. However, Lord Hunt
was under considerable pressure to act quickly in view of the problems since September
1999 in returning retained organs to parents. As the report reached a valid conclusion
about the basic circumstances in which the organs had been disposed of the decision
was rightly taken to publish the full report without further delay. Arrangements were
made for the report to be released into the public domain at 7.00 am on 23 March 2000.

Lord Hunt appeared on the BBC Today programme at 7.00 am on 23 March 2000. In
a press release embargoed until that time he announced the appointment of Mrs Judith
Greensmith as the new Chair of Alder Hey and stated that one of her first tasks would
be to review the liaison with families and to ensure that they had the support they
needed. Mrs Greensmith was also to review management procedures and ensure that
appropriate arrangements were in place for the return of the remaining organs to
families. A new Project Board, reporting directly to the new Chair, was established to
handle liaison with parents. The Regional Director, Professor Robert Tinston, was to
take personal responsibility for ensuring that robust monitoring procedures were in
place dealing with the return of organs effectively and appropriately.

On 15 March 2000 Lord Hunt had instructed Regional Office to keep Mrs White fully
informed of developments. Despite those instructions Mrs White did not see Regional
Office’s report before its contents were disseminated to the media. Professor Tinston
telephoned Hugh Lamont, Head of Communications at Regional Office, between

8.00 am and 9.00 am on 23 March 2000 to obtain confirmation that Mrs White had been
told about the press release and the report. She had not, nor had she seen the report.
Mr Lamont tried to contact Mrs White on the morning of 23 March 2000, but only
managed to speak to her later that afternoon. He apologised for the fact that the report
was in the public domain before she had seen it and offered to drive to her home later
that day to deliver it. Mrs White said it would not be necessary and it was agreed that
Mr Lamont would post the report.

Mr Lamont described Mrs White’s attitude in conversation as reasonable and amicable.
He drafted a letter of apology to her which he posted on 27 March 2000 enclosing a
copy of the report. By this time, Mrs White had already seen the report, which had been
sent to her by her solicitor to whom Mr Lamont had faxed a copy on 23 March 2000.
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Inquiry’s Findings
We accept the basic conclusion reached in the report prepared at Lord Hunt’s request.
The second visual check of the retained organs concluded that the fragments of tissue
could not be identified as specific abdominal organs. Stephen was only 14 days old
when he died, so any retained organs would have been small. Alder Hey had previously
decided that fragments would be disposed of to avoid unnecessary upset to parents as
in their view fragments did not constitute organs. This decision was taken without
consultation with the parents and is another example of paternalism. Because of the
initial decision to dispose of fragments of tissue there will be some families who sought
the return of organs from Alder Hey and who have not had those fragments returned,
because they have been disposed of as clinical waste. In discussions with Regionat
Office at the time of completion of the report for Lord Hunt, Ms Rowland accepted

this inevitability.

In accordance with the predetermined policy and to avoid confusion arising from the
discrepancies in the two visual checks Mrs England took the decision in Stephen
White’s case to dispose of the fragments. The histology record sheet was amended. In
error the entire contents of the containers were then disposed of. There is no record as
to the date, time, place or method of disposal. Even a proper system for reuniting

- retained organs would be undermined by this kind of slackness and lack of integrity.

Mrs England told us that her instruction was specific. It related to fragments and not
Stephen’s other organs. She had never seen the fragments for herself but relied upon
information from Mrs Jackie Waring who had taken over her job as Chief MLSO in
1993. Mrs England was unable to put a date on the disposal of the organs, nor was it
possible to identify which of the laboratory technicians had actually disposed of them.
Mrs Waring herself observed that she could only speculate as to whether the organs had
been thrown away in error or deliberately and she could not honestly comment.

Stephen’s mother should have been told of the fragments from the outset. The problem
in identification should not have been kept from her. Mrs England appears to have
decided what was best for Mrs White to know.

What Did Happen to Stephen White’'s Organs”?

We have tried to establish when disposal of the organs occurred. On 23 February 2000
the Inquiry’s Paediatric Pathologist, Dr Jean Keeling, visited Alder Hey. She had asked
that 200 containers be made available to her for inspection. Stephen White’s containers
could not be traced at the time of her visit. On 8 March 2000 Mrs England signed the
organ release form in preparation for the forthcoming funeral even though she did not
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know where the organs were. Despite the indications of a potential problem on

23 February 2000, it was not acknowledged that the containers and the contents
were missing until 14 March 2000. Had the contents of the containers been checked
immediately before the release form was signed it might have avoided compounding
the problem.

The question of when the organs were disposed of is highly relevant, as the Secretary
of State had instructed Alder Hey in a Ietter that no further tissue should be disposed of
in any case. This instruction was received and circulated, according to management, by
Alder Hey on 21 February 2000. Regional Office’s conclusion when preparing the
reports requested by Lord Hunt was that the organs were disposed of ‘between October
1999 to late January 2000 but procedures were not in place to be more precise than this.

Regional Office did not consider that the organs could have been disposed of after the
Secretary of State’s instruction was received. They noted that Ms Rowland had
confirmed that no tissue had been disposed of in any case since 21 February and all
staff had been made aware of the content of the letter from the Secretary of State.
However, we heard specific evidence from staff at Alder Hey that the directive from the
Secretary of State had not been circulated to them, so they were unaware of the express
instruction not to destroy tissue. Further, in Simone’s case (see paragraphs 12-24
below), it is clear that tissue was disposed of after 21 February 2000. Regional Office’s
assertion that the organs could not have been disposed of after Secretary of State’s
instruction does not therefore necessarily follow. However, we would agree that on
balance it is likely that disposal did take place before the express instruction issued by
Secretary of State. We are unable to date precisely the disposal of Stephen’s organs due
to the complete absence of proper paperwork but the date of the second visual check
(between October 1999 and January 2000) identifying the discrepancy suggests
disposal took place before the directive.

Mrs White should have been told of the contents of the report before it was published
on 23 March 2000. Mr Lamont’s explanation for failing to contact Mrs White is that he
was so busy preparing the ground for the announcement of Judith Greensmith as the
new Chair and dealing with other matters associated with the press release that he
forgot to tell her. He also relied on the fact that the press release was only completed
relatively late on 22 March 2000. Nevertheless Lord Hunt’s instruction that Mrs White
should be kept informed was not complied with. Someone should have been delegated to
inform her of what was going on and provide her personally with a copy of the report.
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Conclusions

The Stephen White case reveals errors and incompetence.

In late 1999 Alder Hey sent a letter to Mrs White informing her that Stephen might
be involved in the organ retention issue. Stephen’s name was mis-spelt and the
surname given was Little, not White.

Mrs White telephoned Alder Hey and was told that his heart had been retained.
Later she was told that the heart and ‘other organs’ had been retained.

She was subsequently told that these other organs were the brain and lungs.
She had thought she had buried all of Stephen at the original funeral.

On 15 March 2000, two days before the second funeral, Mrs White was told that the
organs had been mistakenly destroyed. The funeral had to be cancelled.

On the evening of 22 March 2000 she should have received a copy of Regional
Office’s report explaining the loss of the organs and the reasons why the funeral
had to be cancelled before it became public knowledge.

The letter of apology from Mr Lamont was posted five days after the event, on
27 March 2000. She received a copy of the report from her solicitor, faxed to him
on 23 March 2000 by Mr Lamont.

We are disappointed that no explanation has been forthcoming as to the circumstances
in which the organs were destroyed. The report to Lord Hunt refers to laboratory staff
being frightened to come forward. This does not reflect good personnel management.
Any future reuniting of organs must prevent even fragments of organs being destroyed
without parental consent. The policy adopted by Alder Hey was paternalistic and
inappropriate. Mrs White had a right to know the details of everything retained from
Stephen’s organs.

We respectfully recommend that:

every hospital keep proper records (preferably computerised) as to the source,
consent to retain, usage and disposal of organs and tissue;

every authorisation for release of organs for burial or cremation must not
be completed until the content of the container is confirmed and the form
counter-signed;

a moratorium must be declared if records of organ retention are inadequate during
which there should be an immediate cataloguing of organs retained;

parents must never again be drip-fed information but should be kept fully informed.
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Christopher and Kathryn

A fundamental prerequisite for the performance of a hospital post mortem examination
is the consent of the surviving relatives. It is important that the various options open to
relatives are fully explained and discussed. One option is to consent to a limited post
mortem examination only. In such cases the pathologist must limit his post mortem
examination to the organ(s) specified on the consent form. However, we found clear
evidence that on occasions Professor van Velzen simply ignored parents’ wishes and did
not limit his post mortem examination as specified on the consent form or in any way.
Remarkable examples of this are the cases of Christopher and Kathryn. In Christopher’s
case Professor van Velzen’s actions came to the attention of senior management and yet
no disciplinary action was taken.

Christopher -~ 15 Years 3 Months

9.1

9.2

9.3

In April 1993 Christopher was diagnosed as suffering from Hodgkin’s disease. Later
that year he was admitted to the Intensive Care Unit at Alder Hey. He died two weeks
later. The death was not reportable to the Coroner but his treating consultant wanted
to know whether there had been an infection which the medical staff had not been
able to isolate.

Christopher’s parents were asked if they would consent to a hospital post mortem
examination and after discussion consented to a limited examination only. They agreed
that a small chest incision could be made so that a biopsy of the lung could be taken.
They specifically did not want a full post mortem examination to be performed. Their
wishes were confirmed on no fewer than three separate documents prepared by the
medical staff: the form sent to the mortuary attendant requesting a ‘limited post
mortem’; the mortuary registration form which recorded ‘parents have agreed to biopsy
through small chest incision’; the post mortem consent form which was said to be
‘limited to a chest incision to biopsy of the lung’. Professor van Velzen, who performed
the post mortem examination, had all three documents.

Professor van Velzen exceeded that authority in performing the post mortem
examination. The report refers to ‘opening’ of the heart, trachea, bronchus, stomach,
bowel and bladder and to the findings ‘on section’ of the lungs, pancreas, spleen and
liver. The report also records the weights of both lungs, the heart, liver, spleen, pancreas
and both adrenal glands and kidneys. Clearly the weight of those organs could only be
accurately recorded if they had been removed from the body and weighed separately.
The post mortem report was not sent to Christopher’s parents.
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Christopher’s mother had a number of questions about her son’s death and pursued
those with the hospital. She learned that a post mortem examination had been
performed when she had given consent only for a lung biopsy. In May 1994 she wrote
to Ms Rowland requesting a meeting to discuss her concerns, writing ‘a post mortem
was done when I clearly stated that I did not want one’. Ms Rowland did meet her but
was unable to answer all her queries. She sent a memo to the treating consultant and
to her Medical Director, Dr Martin. There is no record of any written response from
Dr Martin and in oral evidence he was unable to recall the case. However, the treating
consultant made it very clear to Ms Rowland that what Professor van Velzen had done
was unacceptable. She wrote,

‘Professor van Velzen who performed the post mortem took it upon himself
to look at various other organs through the incision he made to do the biopsy.
Mr and Mrs X did not give permission for this and this has caused them
extreme distress. [ actually showed Mrs X the written request I had made for
the biopsy and the documentation in the notes. I can understand that she feels
her wishes were not taken into account.’

The consultant suggested it might be easier for Ms Rowland to discuss the case with her.

Ms Rowland did not take up that offer but instead sought Professor van Velzen’s
comments. His response was a tissue of lies. He wrote to Ms Rowland claiming that
he had made an incision of ‘no more than 7cms, just enough to allow my right hand
to pass into the body cavity’. He enclosed a letter addressed to the parents purporting
to explain the position. That letier claimed that he was able to assess many organs by
gently touching them and feeling for abnormalities including general assessment of
size; tissue samples taken would not have exceeded 1 x 1 x 1 mm; no post mortem was
carried out ‘in the classic sense’; he had not interfered with Christopher’s skull or
damaged his body; he had not removed organs from the body to be only partially
replaced, but Christopher had been buried with all his organs in exactly the same
position as in life. He claimed that wherever he had quoted organ weights in his report
these were based on his assessment by hand, a technique he had learnt through years
of practice and in which he was usually accurate to about 10 per cent — 15 per cent.

Any reasonable assessment of Professor van Velzen’s response would have led

Ms Rowland to conclude that that letter was nonsense. Indeed, in giving oral evidence
to us Ms Rowland subsequently described it as ‘pure fantasy’. However, she did not
reach that conclusion at the time, and instead a letter was prepared in her name to the
parents. This repeated Professor van Velzen’s lies, stating that a small incision only had
been made, that there had not been a full post mortem examination but only a very
limited investigative procedure through that incision, and that all the internal organs
had been left in place. She said that there had been no damage to the body save for the
incision necessary to take lung tissue. Her assistant drafted the letter but in her oral
evidence Ms Rowland accepted full personal responsibility for the letter.
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Ironically, that letter, which was based on wholly inaccurate information provided by
Professor van Velzen, did not actually reach the parents who, hearing nothing and
feeling that they were being fobbed off, elected to leave matters due to the stress the
whole process was causing.

In March 2000 the parents discovered that Christopher’s organs had been retained.
Their distress on being told that their son’s heart, lungs, spleen and stomach had been
retained, after the assurances given when the consent to the lung biopsy was obtained,
can only be imagined. In her questionnaire Christopher’s mother said that she felt she
had buried ‘an empty body’ and ‘felt that I had been raped because I said no’. In
discussions with her link worker at Alder Hey, Sue McQueen (whom she describes as
‘marvellous’), Christopher’s mother became aware of Ms Rowland’s 1994 letter which
she had never received, which distressed her further. The denial in the letter that there
had been a full post mortem examination and the statement that the organs had been
returned to Christopher’s body in the correct place seemed contradictory. The parents
naturally began to wonder whether the letter was accurate. They wondered whether
they had buried organs belonging to another child. They had endured a second funeral
in June 2000. A meeting was arranged with the treating consultant to clarify the
position. She explained that the letter was inaccurate.

Christopher’s case is remarkable. Professor van Velzen acted without authority. The
parents’ wishes were flouted. In oral evidence to the Inquiry, Christopher’s treating
consultant described Professor van Velzen’s actions as ‘outrageous’ and a ‘total travesty
of what had been agreed’. She felt that he had ‘betrayed the medical trust of all people
caring for Christopher’.

Dr Keeling, the Inquiry’s clinical expert, confirmed that it was impossible for Professor
van Velzen to have come to his conclusions about the state of Christopher’s organs by
carrying out an examination through a 7cm upper abdominal incision. On inspection

of the containers prior to the return of Christopher’s organs she found substantial tissue
including five large and two smaller pieces of lung, amounting to the major part of two
lung lobes. There was a slice through the heart which involved the full circumference
of both ventricles. She was able to state that the organs retained were consistent with
those of a child of Christopher’s age.

Professor van Velzen’s behaviour was unacceptable and justified disciplinary
procedures. Ms Rowland failed to deal with the parents’ complaint despite the clear
advice of the treating consultant who exposed Professor van Velzen’s actions. In oral
evidence Professor van Velzen admitted that he had not acted in accordance with the
instructions on the consent form, agreed that his letter to Ms Rowland/the parents was
‘rubbish’ and accepted that he should have been severely disciplined. The Medical
Director, Dr Martin, confirmed that Professor van Velzen’s letter was ‘nonsense’, and
agreed that a final warning at least, and possibly dismissal, was merited in the light of
his actions. Proper assessment of the parents’ complaint at the time should have led to
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10.1

10.2
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10.4
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disciplinary action and referral of Professor van Velzen to the General Medical Council.
Ms Rowland and Dr Martin, who had been asked for his comments on the case, must
take responsibility for their failure to take appropriate action at the time.

Christopher’s case was not the only one where Professor van Velzen exceeded the
consent given by parents when performing post mortem examination. Kathryn’s parents
gave consent to a limited post mortem examination and were told that small tissue
samples only would be taken through a restricted incision of the lung, liver and kidney.
The consent form actually signed by the parents was somewhat broader. Permission
was given ‘for the removal of tissue for diagnostic and other purposes other than
transplantation’ but the agreement to limit post mortem: examination was clear and
accepted by the treating consultant in a report annexed to the post mortem report.
Indeed, Professor van Velzen’s post mortem report itseif referred to a small mid-sternal
incision having been made which enabled ‘only the upper organs and the lower aspects
of the chest organs’ to be brought into view for inspection, the rest of the post mortem
assessment being ‘done on palpation’.

As in Christopher’s case, however, the post mortem report itself belies Professor van
Velzen’s claim. There is reference to the ‘opening’ of the heart and bowel and to
findings ‘on section’ of the lungs, pancreas, spleen, liver, kidney, thymus and adrenal
glands.

In December 1999 Kathryn’s parents received a letter from Ms Rowland confirming
that her heart, lungs, liver, spleen and kidneys had been retained, clear evidence that
Professor van Velzen had exceeded his authority.

We are also aware of another case involving the same clinical team where consent was
given to a limited post mortem examination of the lungs only. In the post mortem
report, however, Professor van Velzen clearly described that the organs of the chest and
abdomen were removed from the body in order that the examination could be done.
Histology was reported on the heart, aorta, lung, thymus, spleen, liver, pancreas, kidney
and adrenal glands. The examination exceeded, by a considerable margin, the consent
given by the parents.

There can be no justification for Professor van Velzen’s actions in these cases. His
behaviour exemplified his lack of respect for the parents and their children.
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Stephen - 2 Years 1 Month

11.1

11.2
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Stephen died at Alder Hey Hospital shortly after admission in October 1994. The
clinician in the Intensive Care Unit asked his parents to consent to a hospital post
mortem. She told them that a small sample of tissue was required for microscopic
examination.

They were eventually persuaded to sign a consent form and Professor van Velzen
carried out a post mortem examination. They would have liked more information about
post mortem examination and now feel that the consent form should have been read out
and explained to them.

In September 1999 they were told that Stephen’s heart and brain had been retained and
sampled following post mortem examination. The way in which they were told of the
retention lacked dignity or sympathy. They have never received an apology.

A second funeral was arranged to take place in November 1999. Shortly before the
funeral, they received the organ release form from the undertaker and realised that the
casket included organs other than the heart and brain. This caused great anxiety.

In January 2000 Stephen’s parents received a letter from Alder Hey stating that not all
the organs had been returned. They were devastated, asked for their immediate return
and began arrangements for a third funeral. A week later they received another letter
explaining that all of Stephen’s organs had been returned in November and the
information contained in the January letter was just an administrative error. This left his
parents in a state of uncertainty and they decided that the only way they could secure
peace of mind as to precisely what they had buried was to exhume Stephen’s casket
from the second funeral and check its contents.

Initially Alder Hey were resistant, but after involvement of the family solicitor and the
Solicitor to the Inquiry they agreed to fund the exhumation. Dr Keeling examined the
contents of the casket. Stephen’s parents had originally been told that the organs
returned included the kidneys and liver, but these organs were not to be found. There
was no spleen, an organ which, judging by the post mortem report, had been removed
at the post mortem examination.

After two funerals and an exhumation the parents are still left with the following
questions:

® Why were they informed in a letter in January 2000 by Alder Hey that the liver and
kidneys had in fact been returned when they had not?

® Where are Stephen’s liver and kidneys?

® Where is Stephen’s spleen?
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Stephen’s parents feel that they will never be able to put their son to rest, or free
themselves of the turmoil consuming their family until they have answers to these
questions.

11.8  The parents complain that throughout Alder Hey have treated them arrogantly and
insensitively. The information they have received has been misleading and inconsistent.
They feel that in the circumstances Alder Hey should have sent someone to visit them
and explain what was going on.

11.9  Stephen’s is one of the most unsatisfactory and distressing cases it is possible to
imagine. Alder Hey has still not provided a proper answer to any of the questions raised
by his parents. The parents also feel that because Stephen died so soon after admission
to hospital the death should have been reported to the Coroner. They have now reported
the death to the Coroner who is to make further enquiries.

Simone - 3 Years 4 Months

12. Background

12.1  Simone was born in 1989. She suffered from transposition of the great arteries,
enlargement of ventricular septal defect and hypoplastic left ventricle. She underwent
surgical intervention in 1990 and 1993. Before the first operation, undertaken by Miss
Roxanne McKay, Consultant Paediatric Cardiac Surgeon, her mother was told that
Simone had an even chance of surviving. Before the second operation she states that
Mr Roger Franks, Consultant Cardiothoracic Surgeon, told her that the prospects of survival
were as high as 75 per cent. Simone deteriorated following surgery and died in 1993.

13. Involvement of the Coroner

13.1  Simone died three days after the operation from which a successful outcome had been
expected. The present HM Coroner for Liverpool, Mr Andre Rebello, states that any
death occurring within 48 hours of an operative procedure should be reported to the
Coroner, as should any case where the death might be related to a medical procedure or
treatment. This was clearly the case here, although Regulation 41 of the Registration of
Births and Deaths Regulations 1987 is not quite so specific. In all the circumstances it
would have been sensible to report the death to the Coroner. Mr Rebello has confirmed
to the Inquiry that the death was not reported at the time, but it has been now and he is
investigating formally.
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Consent to Hospital Post Mortem Examination

Simone’s mother gave evidence that the possibility of a Coroner’s post mortem
examination was used as a threat to induce her to give consent to a hospital post
mortem examination. She says Mr Franks made it clear that if she did not sign the

post mortem consent form then he would ask the Coroner to order a post mortem
examination. She did give her consent, although she rang the cardiac department later
that day to say that she wanted an independent pathologist to carry out the examination.
She was told her wishes would be respected. However, correspondence shows that
those wishes were treated as a request for a second opinion, but no steps were taken

to arrange any such second opinion.

Mr Franks gave evidence that in his view Simone’s death was not reportable to the
Coroner. He denied that he would have made any reference to a Coroner’s post mortem
examination. However, he also told us of other deaths reported to the Coroner where a
hospital post mortem examination was not just discussed with parents but on occasions
actually performed. In these circumstances we prefer the mother’s recollection and
conclude that the nature of the discussion was inappropriate.

A hospital post mortem examination was performed by Professor van Velzen. Simone’s
mother’s request for an independent pathologist was ignored. Mr Franks says it was
Professor van Velzen’s responsibility to organise the independent post mortem but the
correspondence does not confirm that he was asked to make appropriate arrangements.
Had Simone’s death been reported to the Coroner then, under Rule 6 (1)(c)(iii) of the
Coroner’s Rules 1984, her mother would have been entitled to ask that the examination
be performed by a pathologist not associated with Alder Hey. After the post mortem
examination the findings were not disclosed to her.

Simone’s mother queried whether there had been a ‘cover up’. We have no evidence of
this, but the lack of transparency surrounding the post mortem procedure is a matter for
concern. General issues surrounding the Coroner’s process are addressed in Chapter 9.

Initial Enquiries Regarding Organ Retention

Simone’s mother was one of the first parents to make enquiries of Alder Hey after the
news of organ retention became public. She telephoned in September 1999 asking if
Simone’s heart had been retained and was told that it had not. Some time later she
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made a further enquiry asking whether any of Simone’s organs had been retained. She
was told that someone would ring her back, but she became tired of waiting and went
to the hospital demanding an answer, She was told that no organs had been retained.
This was confirmed in writing a few weeks later.

Simone’s organs had in fact been retained. The initial information given to Simone’s
mother was inaccurate. Ms Valerie Mandelson, who co-ordinated the Family Support
Team from October to December 1999, was told within a few days that inaccurate
information had been given. She surmises, probably correctly, that the initial check had
been made under an incorrect name. Ms Mandelson’s initial reaction was that Simone’s
mother could not be told of the error because of the distress it would cause. She says
she acted out of a wish to protect her. She knew how devastating parents found it to be
told about organ retention, so receiving such information, in the light of the assurances
previously given, would be dreadful. However, Simone’s mother had made it clear she
wanted to have the information and she should have been told. Ms Mandelson now
accepts that and admits that she was misguided in her actions. She was open and
apologetic in her evidence to us.

Amendment of the Database

Ms Mandelson then removed Simone’s name from the paper printout detailing the
children whose organs had been retained. The printout was the first port of call for
other administrative staff to check organ retention in any particular case. She also
ensured that the enquiry database on the computer indicated that the mother had
been told ‘no’ in relation to her query regarding organ retention, She stuck a post-it
on the computer in the Incident Room saying ‘(Mother’s name): do not allocate’.
Ms Mandelson says, quite frankly, that she took this action of her own accord and
not as a result of any instruction.

Ms Mandelson then spoke to her line manager, Ms Sally Ferguson, the acting

Director of Nursing. The two have slightly different recollections of the discussion.

Ms Ferguson recalls advising Ms Mandelson to inform Ms Rowland and Mrs England
of what had happened, so there could be further discussion about what should be done.
Ms Mandelson believes it was ‘understood’ that Simone’s mother ‘could not’ be told
what had happened and the need to speak to Ms Rowland and Mrs England was purely
to keep them informed.

Ms Mandelson met with Ms Rowland and Mrs England and told them what had
happened. She accepts she did not ask what should be done and that no instruction was
given not to tell Simone’s mother the truth. However, it was understood by the three of
them that unless a specific instruction was given at this point to tell the mother then
there would be no further contact with her.
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17.4

18.

Ms Rowland and/or Mrs England had the opportunity to ensure Simone’s mother was
told immediately but did not do so. The position in early November 1999 was therefore
that Simone’s mother, despite having made two specific enquiries to establish whether
Simone’s heart and/or other organs had been retained, remained under the
misapprehension that there had been no retention. Alder Hey knew this to be
inaccurate, The database and printout had been amended to reflect what Simone’s
mother had been told, rather than what was actually the case.

Identification of the Organs

18.1

19,

In December 1999 Simone's retained organs were routinely examined and listed as
part of Alder Hey’s general cataloguing process. Mr Liam Nolan, a locum Medical
Laboratory Scientific Officer (MLSO) employed by Alder Hey, prepared a ‘full details
list’. Organs were transferred from Myrtle Street to Alder Hey and afterwards were
returned to the pathology stores in Alder Hey. Mr Nolan did not know that Simone’s
mother had not been informed of the retention.

Further Enquiries Regarding Organ Retention

19.1

19.2

60

After Professor van Velzen’s appearance on the BBC programme “Close Up North’,

in February 2000, Simone’s mother contacted Alder Hey again. She requested a copy
of the post mortem report and saw that Professor van Velzen had performed the post
mortem. She asked more questions, which came to the attention of Ms Russell, a
member of the Incident Team responsible to Ms Therese Harvey, the Director of
Human Resources. Ms Russell recalled the post-it on the computer, and recognised the
writing. On 21 February 2000 she spoke to Ms Mandelson who explained the sequence
of events. Ms Russell then went to see Ms Harvey. She explained that Simone’s mother
had been given inaccurate information previously and a decision had been made not to
go back and tell the truth. Ms Harvey made it clear that the mother would have to be
told but demanded a physical check of the organs be undertaken. This check confirmed
that Simone’s organs remained in the pathology department. Ms Harvey informed

Ms Rowland who agreed with the decision to tell Simone’s mother the truth,

Ms Sue McQueen, a help line worker, spoke to Simone’s mother. She told her that part
of Simone’s brain, liver, spleen, kidney, reproductive organs and intestine had been
retained. Subsequent correspondence confirmed that the pancreas had also been
retained but there was no mention of retention of Simone’s heart and lungs. The
information coincided with the ‘full details list’ completed by Mr Nolan. Simone’s
mother told Ms McQueen that the organs should not be disposed of and said that she
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had been in touch with the Coroner, to bring Simone’s case to his attention. In the
interim, on 18 February 2000, Secretary of State had issued a written directive to Alder
Hey making it clear that no organs should be disposed of without further instruction.
We were told that Alder Hey circulated this instruction on 21 February 2000.

Despite this instruction, and unknown to Simone’s mother at the time, Mr Dearlove,
one of the MLSOs, disposed of Simone’s organs on or around 23 February 2000. Prior
to the disposal, Mr Nolan had seen the two containers holding the organs near Mr
Dearlove’s work area in the laboratory and had wondered why they were there, He did
not pursue the issue, assuming there was a valid reason why the organs had been taken
out of storage,

Mr Dearlove said that he disposed of the organs quite deliberately because he had been
instructed to do so by Mrs England ‘because of discrepancies in the database system’.
He said that Mrs England had explained to him that ‘the parents had not been told
about these organs, they had been told no (organs had been retained) on several
occasions and that she thought it better, rather than cause them any more distress,
would I dispose of the organs’, Mr Dearlove said that he was unaware of Secretary

of State’s directive that organs should not be destroyed.

Mrs England denies that any such instruction was given stating that there was no reason
to dispose of the organs as Simone’s mother had been told of the retention. However,
she accepted in oral evidence that she found Mr Dearlove ‘utterly trustworthy’ and that
he would never have taken it upon himself to deliberately destroy organs. One of Mr
Dearlove’s fellow MLSOs, Ms Elizabeth Clapham, recalls Mr Dearlove returning from
a meeting with Mrs England and informing her that he had been requested to dispose
of the organs. This gives support to Mr Dearlove’s contentions.

Why was an Instruction to Dispose Given?

Mr Nolan’s duties included production of detailed lists to families, returning organs
and casketing arrangements for families. In early/mid February 2000 he reviewed the
contents of approximately 400 containers at Mrs England’s request. At the conclusion
of that process he advised Mrs England of a number of queries. In particular he had
recognised that Simone’s name was not on the histology database, but organs had been
retained. At the very least, therefore, Mrs England knew that there was a discrepancy
on the database, which again supports Mr Dearlove’s evidence. She may even have
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recalled that Simone’s mother had been told previously that no organs had been
retained as she had been present at the meeting in October with Ms Mandelson and
Ms Rowland when this had been discussed and the enquiry database also reflected this.
An instruction to dispose of the organs might have been an attempt to extricate Alder
Hey from an embarrassing situation.

If Mrs England knew, however, that Simone’s mother was to be told the truth about the
retention of organs, then clearly an instruction to dispose of organs to protect Alder Hey
would have been illogical. Mrs England gave evidence that she, Ms Russell, Ms Harvey
and Ms Rowland all knew that the organs had been located and that Simone’s mother
was to be told. She says Ms Russell told her this was to be done. She says there was
therefore no motive for her to instruct Mr Dearlove to dispose of the organs.

However, Ms Russell was clear in her evidence that she did not communicate such
information to Mrs England and had no cause to do so as she was directly responsible
to Ms Harvey. She did not recall Mrs England being present when she told Ms Harvey
of the position. The evidence therefore does not confirm Mrs England’s involvement
in that loop of information. We accept Mr Dearlove’s evidence that Mrs England
instructed him to dispose of the organs because of the database discrepancy. We are
satisfied that Mr Dearlove would not have disposed of the organs without receiving
specific instruction to do so.

What Organs were Disposed of?

The ‘full details list’ of retained organs given to Simone’s mother did not include
Simone’s heart and lungs. Simone’s mother telephoned Professor van Velzen who told
her that his practice was to retain all the organs including heart and lungs. He said he
would have sent the heart and lungs to the Institute of Child Health (ICH). Mr Dearlove
gave evidence that ‘one pot was in the ICH and the rest had been down at Myrtle Street
and somebody removed them to Alder Hey’. This would suggest that the heart and
lungs had been retained. However, the two containers which Mr Nolan observed in

Mr Dearlove’s work area were Myrtle Street containers, neither being a glass

container of the type which he had seen in the ICH. His expectation was that one of
the containers would have held the brain, and the second the other organs. If the heart
and lungs were retained, they have never been successfully located by Alder Hey.
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In early May 2000 Simone’s mother made a further enquiry of the help line. The list
of retained organs had included ‘partial brain’ and she wanted to know exactly what
part and what had happened to the rest of the brain. The enquiry was passed by

Ms McQueen to Mr Nolan who was unable to locate the containers. It was at this stage
that the previous disposal of the organs came to light. On 11 May Mrs Kate Jackson,
the Serious Incident Project Board Director, spoke to Simone’s mother and asked to
see her at home. She agreed and Mrs Jackson broke the news of the disposal of
Simone’s organs. On 12 May Alder Hey issued a press statement pledging a full
investigation. The press statement made public Simone’s name. This was contrary to
her mother’s wishes and further distress was caused. Mrs Judith Greensmith, Chair of
Alder Hey, whilst of the view that there was public interest in the incident, accepted
that Alder Hey should have been more aware of the sensitive nature of the situation.

Conclusions

The story of Simone’s case is extremely disturbing from start to finish.

® Pressure was exerted on the mother to consent to a hospital post mortem
examination.

® A hospital post mortem examination was performed when a Coroner’s post mortem
examination was more appropriate.

® Simone’s mother was denied the independent pathologist she specifically requested.

® The findings of the post mortem report were not communicated to Simone’s mother
and her understanding of Simone’s death was incomplete.

® Organs were retained without the mother’s knowledge.

* When Simone’s mother enquired about organ retention she was given inaccurate
information.

® When it was discovered that Simone’s mother had been given inaccurate information
she was still not told the truth, at best because a paternalistic attitude prevailed, at
worst because there was a cover up. Ms Rowland and Mrs England should have
instructed Ms Mandelson to tell Simone’s mother what had happened.

® Simone’s mother had requested specific information about organ retention on many
occasions and it should have been provided at the earliest opportunity.
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® It was wrong to amend the database to cover Alder Hey’s tracks and turn
misinformation about organ retention into a lie.

® The mother’s persistence forced Alder Hey to reveal that Simone’s organs had been
retained. She is still unaware as to the whereabouts of her child’s heart and lungs.

Retained organs were disposed of contrary to Simone’s mother’s instructions,
Secretary of State’s instruction and despite the involvement of HM Coroner.

® Disposal was carried out to Mrs England’s instruction.
® The press release contravened the mother’s right to confidentiality.

® Alder Hey has failed to explain properly to Simone’s mother the circumstances
of disposal of the organs.

This sorry sequence of events has incrementally increased the grief and distress of
Simone’s mother. There was a concerted attempt to conceal the fact of organ retention
from her. There is a high incidence of suspicion that there has been a cover up. The
treatment of Simone’s family has been tardy, disrespectful, insensitive and totally
lacking in understanding or compassion.
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1. Introduction

1.1 A post mortem examination, sometimes referred to as an autopsy, is a careful
examination of a body after death by a pathologist. A pathologist, who works in
hospitals and medical schools, is a qualified doctor specialising in the study of disease.
The pathologist investigates the changes in body tissues and organs that cause, or are
caused by, disease. Pathologists who specialise in the examination of fetus, babies and
children are called paediatric or perinatal pathologists. They usually work in children’s
hospitals, maternity hospitals or large pathology departments in teaching hospitals.

2. Reasons for Post Mortem Examination

2.1 The post mortem examination is performed primarily for the parents to help them to
understand better the reasons for their baby or child’s death. The post mortem may find
a medical condition that caused or contributed to death. In some cases, it will provide
important information about an underlying abnormality or condition that might recur in
a future baby in that family and enable appropriate genetic counselling.
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Sometimes the post mortem examination does not identify the cause of death and some
questions may remain. This can be distressing but may provide reassurance that death

" did not result from any treatable disease or birth defect.

Post mortems also have wider functions. Clinicians leam from post mortems. In many
cases, the examination will confirm clinicians’ diagnoses. In others there may be
unsuspected findings. The availability of this information is critical in the process of
audit, when clinicians constantly evaluate their own performance with the aim of
improvement. Parents should derive reassurance that they are being seen or their child
is being treated by doctors who are engaged in the process of critical appraisal of their
own work. Post mortem information has an important contribution to make in this process.

Post mortems also contribute to research and play a role in changing methods of
investigation and treatment of infants and children. For instance they offer an
opportunity to compare the results of different types of scanning with the actual
structure of the abnormalities found.-This process has been particularly important in
the development of scanning for birth defects during pregnancy and the investigation
of congenital heart disease. It has resulted in the diagnosis of more complex defects,
greater accuracy and diagnosis earlier in pregnancy. Some of these developments have
come about over a relatively short space of time. Obstetricians and radiologists have
become more confident about diagnosis, allowing them to plan the future management
of pregnancy with parents. Post mortems can assist in the evaluation of new treatment
protocols, or the results of surgery, and be instrumental in improving infant mortality
rates, particularly from conditions such as congenital heart disease.

In an even wider context, accurate information about the cause of death makes an
important contribution to epidemiology and national statistics. This and the
investigation of the cause of disease is relevant in determining how best to spend health
service resources.

Sometimes tissue samples in wax blocks (see paragraph 4.6 below) and slides that
remain once the diagnostic microscopy (see paragraph 4.5 below) has been completed,
can be used for important research into the cause of disease. These tissues can be re-
examined many years later and the pathology can be better understood in the light

of newer discoveries and developments.
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Types of Post Mortem Examination

There are two types of post mortem examination.

A Coroner’s post mortem examination is carried out according to the provisions of the
Coroner’s Act 1988 and the Coroner’s Rules 1984. Parental consent is not required but
parents should be informed as to when, where and by whom the examination is to be
performed. This matter is considered in detail in Chapter 9.

A hospital post mortem examination is carried out according to the provisions of the
Human Tissue Act 1961. Lack of objection or informed consent on the part of the
parents is required. Consent needs to be fully informed and the many options available
to parents need to be discussed and explained (see Chapter 11 Consent).

Post Mortem Examination

The most benefit can be gained from post mortem examination if it is done as soon as
possible after death. Increasingly, post mortems on babies and children are performed
by perinatal or paediatric pathologists. As they may not work in the hospital where the
baby died, the baby may have to be transferred to another hospital for the post mortem
examination to be conducted. Parents should be informed before any transfer of their
baby or child is to occur and this should be part of the information provided when
consent for post mortem is obtained.

In the case of fetus, babies or children, it is usual for X-rays to be taken before the post
mortem. Photographs might also be taken, particularly in the presence of abnormality
or trauma.

A post mortem examination will be carried out with great care and respect for the body,
as if the baby or child is having an operation. Two openings are made in order to
remove those organs necessary to establish the cause of death, one down the front of
the body and another across the back of the head. The major organs within the body,
which will be removed, examined and weighed as part of the examination include the
brain, heart, lung, liver, kidneys, spleen, thymus and adrenals.

The placenta is also an important part of the post mortem examination of fetus,
stillbirths and deaths of newborns. The condition of the placenta should be considered
in the process of reaching a conclusion about the cause of death.

A wide range of organs and tissues are examined microscopically, especially in babies
and children. Microscopy is more likely to produce new information in perinatal or
paediatric post mortem examination than in adult post mortem examinations. Firstly,
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this is to ensure that no unsuspected disease process has been missed, even in tissues
that are not obviously the site of disease. Confirmation that these tissues are normal
can be helpful. Secondly, even when the naked eye inspection of organs shows an
abnormality, it may not be specific for a particular disease process. For example,

the lungs of newborn babies affected by pneumonia, lack of oxygen, or by hyaline
membrane disease (a lung disorder affecting premature babies) look very similar

on naked eye examination.

To examine tissues microscopically, small samples are taken and then passed through a
process whereby they are embedded in wax blocks. Very thin sections (approximately
five thousandths of a millimetre) are then cut off these blocks and placed on a glass
slide for examination through a microscope.

Sometimes samples are taken for culture to look for bacteria or viruses. It may be
important to take a tissue sample for chromosome analysis.

In order to obtain as much information as possible it may be important to remove and
retain an organ for detailed investigation. In babies and children in particular, the brain
is very soft and it may not be possible to examine it in sufficient detail until it has
hardened in fixative. This can take a number of weeks. Further, it is often important
for a specialist, with particular expertise, to examine the brain to ensure any pathology
is fully recognised and understood. The heart may also need to be retained. This is
usually in cases of a complicated heart defect.

Organs should not be retained without specific consent. Parents, properly informed,
might express a willingness to delay the funeral to allow for full examination of an
organ after which it can be reunited with the body, in time for the funeral to take place.

Unless the parents have consented to retention, once the post mortem examination
is completed, all the organs will be returned to the body. The body is then carefully
restored, usually by the mortuary technician. The baby or child can then be seen
and held by family members and dressed in his or her own clothes.

The Limited Post Mortem Examination

Most information is gained from a full post mortem examination, which involves
examination of all the major organs of the body including the brain. However, the
examination can be limited, for example to a body cavity such as the chest or abdomen.
Particular organs might be specified and, in a death resulting from congenital heart
disease, examination could be limited to the heart and lung. Another type of limitation
might be to restrict access to a previous surgical incision or removal of small samples
of tissue through a tiny incision or biopsy needle for microscopic examination.

A restricted or partial examination will often provide useful information, but there is
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always a risk that important pathology will be missed. Because of this risk, when a
more limited examination is being contemplated, discussion with the pathologist is
advisable before consent is obtained.

The Post Mortem Report

Most pathologists dictate their reports on the day the examination is carried out, or the
following day at the latest. Delay in dictation can result in loss of important detail. The
report should be produced promptly. The report should contain an accurate description
and interpretation of the post mortem finding.

The pathologist should report all the findings in a way that ensures their significance
is understood by the clinician. The clinician is then able to provide full and correct
information to the parents.

A preliminary report to the clinician should be available within days of the post
mortem, either in the form of a letter or as a provisional report. Often initial
communication will be by telephone, the content of which should be recorded. A final
report, however, will usually take three to six weeks to be completed, as the results of
the microscopic examination and sometimes other investigations become available and
are incorporated in the report and conclusions. Some investigations may occasionally
lead to a final report taking even longer to complete. Such investigations might include
cytogenetics or retention of the brain for detailed study.

Clinicians should be aware of the timescale for reports. It is important that the post
mortem report is available following perinatal death when the mother returns for her
postnatal appointment. Scheduling appointments for parents with clinicians following
death is far easier when completion of the report can be confidently anticipated. This
avoids parental disappointment and frustration. It encourages full information, openness
and fosters the parent/clinician relationship.

Communication

Good communication between clinicians, pathologists, parents and Coroner is essential.
it helps to reduce the incidence of misunderstanding and should result in parents
receiving the information to which they are entitled. We regard this as so important that
it is fully developed in Chapters 10 and 11.
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There are a number of points in the process of the post mortem at which good
communication can be encouraged. The pathologist can obtain a considerable amount
of mformation from case notes, and access to these is important for the pathologist.
Direct discussion between the pathologist and clinician before the post mortem can help
to clarify particular questions, especially in a complex case.

There may even be advantages, in some cases, for the discussions between clinician
and pathologist to occur before the clinician discusses consent for post mortem with the
parents, For instance, the pathologist may recognise the importance of retention of an
organ, or other special investigation, and the clinician will be more informed to discuss
this with parents.

In some cases, it may be appropriate for the pathologist to assist the clinician in
discussing the post mortem with the parents. Not only is the pathologist better able

to answer parents’ questions about the procedure than anyone else, but it may provide
parents with greater confidence about the post mortem once they have spoken directly
with the person who will undertake the procedure.

It is good practice for clinicians who have been looking after the baby or child in life
to attend the post mortem examination. Clinicians should have the opportunity of
seeing for themselves the true extent of disease. Attendance during post mortem
examination will assist in ensuring that the clinicians’ expectation of the examination
is realistic. A post mortem exarmination cannot answer every question but good
communication assists the process,

Pathologists recognise that it is not always possible for clinicians to attend post mortem
examination. While prior warning and flexibility in timing of the examination will
increase the window of opportunity for clinicians to attend it is inevitable there will be
difficulties if babies or children are transferred to other hospitals for a post mortem
examination, perhaps by a specialist paediatric pathologist.

The pathologist’s report will provide an accurate description of the post mortem
findings and will include an interpretation of those findings in the context of the
clinical history. A clinician’s presence during an examination will not change the
substance of the report. When a condition is missed in life it will be recorded. The
results of an operation will be fully described including any associated pathology.
However, while the information provided by the post mortem will assist an
understanding of the causes of a baby’s or child’s death, in isolation the post mortem
cannot constitute a complete investigation into the correctness or otherwise of complex
medical management.

Once the cause of death is established, the results must be explained sensitively to the
parents by the clinician or their general practitioner. The pathologist should also be
available for the parents and it may sometimes be appropriate for both clinician and
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pathologist to be involved with explanation of the post mortem results. A copy of the
post mortem report should be made available to parents. The parents’ interests in the
results of post mortem examination are paramount.

It is good practice for the pathologist to attend clinical meetings when cases of the
babies or children they have examined are being discussed. This includes perinatal
mortality meetings, prenatal diagnosis/fetal anomaly meetings and unit audit meetings.
These are excellent opportunities for communication between clinician and pathologist
and permit exchange of both specific and general information between other
consultants in the specialty, junior staff, nursing and midwifery staff and other
professionals. They are important opportunities for discussion of changes to inpatient
management and improvement of interdepartmental communication.

The Way Forward

The most important role of the post mortem is to help parents understand why their
baby or child died and it may sometimes help them make decisions about the future.
It also improves the body of medical knowledge, contributing to audit, medical
education and research. Parental confidence in the post mortem will only occur if the
procedure is discussed by clinicians who are fully aware of the procedure and possible
outcomes, This will be facilitated by good communications with their pathologist.

[t is important for individual units within the hospital to maintain a high post mortem
rate. The number of children who die is small. It is important to find out as much as
possible from each death. Units should look critically at their post mortem rates.
Current medical practice means that many children with illnesses of long duration do
not die in hospital. This should not, however, preclude post mortem examination.

Fully informed consent to hospital post mortem examinations must always be obtained
and we explore this in detail in Chapters 10 and 11,
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1. Introduction
1.1 Readers are now aware of the aftermath of what has happened in Liverpool namely the
human suffering caused by organ retention. We will now move on to explain the origin
and development of the various collections of organs discovered by the Inquiry in
Liverpool. A detailed analysis of what occurred between 1986 and 1995 is given in
Chapter 8, the period when Professor van Velzen was appointed and worked in Liverpool.
1.2 It is useful to consider the nature of NHS and University management to help
understand how events unfolded. A glossary of medical terms with which the general
reader will soon become familiar is also to be found on page 521.
1.3 The National Health Service (NHS) is a complex organisation, dependent upon

collaborative inter-organisational relationships. This chapter simplifies the history and
explains the varied changes in structure that the NHS in England has undergone,
especially in relation to Alder Hey and the North West. It provides an introduction to
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the duty of accountability and responsibility to which the NHS in England must adhere.
For the purposes of this report, only acute hospital services and those bodies to whom
they report are included. In addition to the provision and management of health
services, the close relationship that exists between the NHS and Universities for
teaching and research purposes is explained as well as the role of the Ethics
Committees who are responsible for the formal approval of clinical research.

The National Health Services Act 1946 made the Minister of Health responsible for
the constitution of Regional Hospital Boards, Hospital Management Committees and
Boards of Governors of teaching hospitals.

A Statutory Instrument entitled National Health Service (Designation of Teaching
Hospitals) designated the Royal Liverpool Children’s Hospital as a teaching hospital.
Sections 12, 13 and 14 of the Act set out the legal status, duties and responsibilities
of the Hospital’s Board of Governors,

‘1t shall be the duty of the Board of Governors of every Teaching Hospital, as
from the appointed day, in accordance with Regulations and such directions as
may be given to the Minister, generally to manage and control the hospital on
behalf of the Minister, and in particular:

(a) To provide for the University with which the Hospital is associated such
facilities as appear to the Minister to be required for clinical teaching
and research.’

The Board of Governors of the Hospital and the University of Liverpool were jointly
responsible for appointments of senior management of the Hospital.

The Health Services and Public Health Act 1968 Section 6(1) extended these powers to
administer specialist patient services outside the hospital, such as at a health centre or
clinic. This was the only addition to the responsibilities of the Board of Governors until
wholesale NHS reorganisation in 1974.

National Health Service Reorganisation 1974

The National Health Service Reorganisation Act 1973 abolished the Board of
Governors from 1 April 1974. Responsibility for the Hospital passed formally to the
Liverpool Area Health Authority (Teaching), which was associated with the University
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of Liverpool and came into operation on 24 August 1973. A Chairman ran the Authority
with 19 members drawn from nominations by the University of Liverpool, appointments
by Mersey Regional Authority and by Liverpool District Council. As it was a Teaching
Authority there was provision for three additional members to be appointed.

Further guidance in December 1976 provided for 26 members (excluding the
Chairman) to include additional local authority members to be appointed from 1 August
1977. A further circular in April 1979 changed the constitution of membership of the
Authority to include general members, nominations from the City Council with
reserved staff and University places.

In February 1982 new District Health Authorities were introduced. Membership was
reduced to 18 with two additional members if the organisation was a Teaching
Authority. Liverpool was listed as a District Health Authority designated for Teaching
Purposes and this Authority took charge of the Royal Liverpool Children’s Hospital on
1 April 1982. The Liverpool Health Authority (Teaching) had a membership of 18
members, three appointed on nomination of the University of Liverpool, nine appointed
by the Regional Health Authority and two appointed by the Local Authority. As it was a
Teaching Authority, there were a further two members appointed.

National Health Service Reorganisation 1990 -

The Establishment of NHS Trusts

The National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990 led to the establishment
of a Health Service Trust, The Royal Liverpool Children’s Hospital and Community
Services National Health Service Trust, from 1 April 1991. This Trust was to own and
manage accommodation and services at Alder Hey and associated hospitals such as
Myrtle Street, including management of teaching and research facilities. Accountability
was through the Trust Beard of a chairman, five non-executive directors and five
executive directors. The University appointed one of the non-executive directors
because of the significant teaching and research commitment. Liverpool Health
Authority gave assistance to the Trust before the Operational Date.

In 1996 the Trust changed its name to The Royal Liverpool Children’s National Health
Service Trust. This is the Trust accountable at present for Alder Hey Hospital.
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5.  The Role of Management

5.1 The role of NHS managers has evolved through the decades, starting with the Hospital
Management Committee and sub-committee structure in the 1950s and 1960s. The
management task was largely administrative. The ‘chief executive’ role was confined
to that of hospital administrator, more of a facilitator and person ‘who got things done’
rather than someone with wide ranging managerial and executive powers. Professional
staff, in the main consultants, had responsibility for the clinical service provided and
how it was provided. In this respect they were unfettered by any managerial influence.

5.2 It was not until the 1960s and 1970s that a serious look was taken at the roles and
responsibilities of managers and the role of clinicians in management. In the latter case,
doctors became involved in management through Executive Committees of clinical
divisions. Chairmen of these committees could often have a very effective and powerful
say in service delivery.

53 NHS reorganisation in 1974 prompted change at local hospital level through
establishment of multi-disciplinary management teams who managed on a consensus
basis. The hospital administrator, working with functional heads of departments and
senior nursing staff, made day-to-day decisions on running the hospital. This was
supported and managed at a higher level through a new structure made up of district
managers reporting to Area Health Authorities who in turn were accountable to new
Regional Health Authorities.

5.4 A fundamental overhaul of management resulted from the Griffiths Report published
in 1983. It revealed a lack of management at all levels of the NHS, the need for
monitoring of performance of NHS organisations and for greater accountability of use
of resources. It questioned clinical autonomy, called for a simplified management
structure and aimed to strengthen management in terms of leadership, effectiveness
and professionalism. Reorganisation in 1982 had already witnessed the formation
of new District Health Authorities replacing old districts and areas.

5.5 Performance measures were now possible through the introduction of statistical data
of hospital activity. Griffiths recommended annual performance reviews of regions,
districts and hospitals. General managers were appointed at regional, district and unit
(hospital) levels. They were given wide ranging responsibilities to improve
performance of the NHS through leadership, change, cost improvement and the
inclusion of professional staff into the overall aims and objectives of the organisation.
It was anticipated that this fundamental shift in culture and responsibility of
management would take up to ten years to achieve, Management training thus became
a vitally important issue and General Management Training Schemes were introduced.
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At this time, it was recognised that clinicians should be more involved in the
management of hospitals. This was put into effect through a gradual process of
developing clinical directorates. Clinical services were organised into directorates with
the clinical director assuming a leadership and management role. In the early days, the
unit general manager could only negotiate with and influence clinical directors, who in
turn negotiated with and influenced colleagues, rather than managing through clear
lines of accountability. In effect, the clinical director’s managerial responsibilities were
added on to clinical responsibilities.

The major reorganisation of 1990/91 included the establishment of the NHS Executive
as the operational arm of the Department of Health. Its role was primarily to oversee
performance of the NHS through Regional Health Authorities down to Health
Authorities, newly established hospital Trusts and hospitals remaining as District
Managed Units (DMUs). The reorganisation prompted a more prominent role for
professionals in management and greater accountability of the clinicians themselves
for their clinical work. This was through the introduction of medical audit in which all
doctors were required to participate. Clinical directors were generally organised under
a medical director who was also an executive director on the Trust Board, in turn
accountable to the chief executive and Board.

Chief executives replaced unit general managers (UGMs) who had to compete for the
posts. Some UGMs, as in the case of the Royal Liverpool Children’s NHS Trust, were
not appointed as chief executive. These were a ‘new breed’ expected to deliver a much
higher profile executive role and were accountable directly to Secretary of State via the
NHS Executive. With the new role came substantial increases in salary commensurate
with the additional responsibilities.

Hospitals wishing to become NHS Trusts in 1991 had to demonstrate a high degree
of managerial competence and control. For example, they had to provide evidence
of financial and organisational fitness including effective information systems.
Management had to demonstrate the necessary skills and prove that doctors and
nurses were actively involved in management. The Regional Health Authority
scrutinised applications for Trust status to ensure these conditions were met before
submission to the NHS Executive and finally Ministers for approval.

By 1991, with the establishment of Trusts, the greater involvement of clinicians in
management through the clinical and medical directorate structures and the developing
audit and clinical audit initiatives, the groundwork was laid for a more effective and
accountable organisation.

The 14 Regional Health Authorities in England were abolished by Secretary of State
on 31 March 1996. In their place, the NHS Executive established eight Regional
Offices in England whose role it was to performance-manage the NHS in the region
through Health Authorities and directly with NHS Trusts. That performance
management role exists to this day.
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The University of Liverpool and the Royal Livérpool Children’s Hospital NHS Trust
have a responsibility to deliver training and education for medical students and to
facilitate research in medicine. This demands a productive relationship between the
University and the Trust, with shared managerial responsibilities and established lines
of communication.

Medical students, as part of their education and training, require access to clinical
situations and to patients. Students need to be taught by clinically expert academic staff
who are actively involved in research. This is essential and forms the basis of complex
relationships between the University’s Medical Faculty and the Trust. The Medical
Faculty or Medical School at the University has relationships with a number of local
Trusts known as teaching hospitals, and one such is with the Royal Liverpool
Children’s Hospital NHS Trust. Students are supervised and taught by both University
and NHS staff. Clearly these arrangements need to be regulated.

Academic staff of the University and Medical School are responsible directly to the
University through the head of the University department and then the Dean of the
Faculty of Medicine. In turn the Dean is accountable to the Vice Chancellor. However,
academic staff are also accountable to the Trust for their clinical teaching duties and
clinical activities in the NHS. This dual accountability is achieved through a contractual
arrangement with both the University and the Trust. For example, a University clinical
professor would have an honorary NHS consultant contract. Such a member of staff
would have fractions of time, e.g. 5/11ths with the University for teaching and research
purposes and 6/11ths dedicated to the relevant Trust patient clinical care activities. Thus
the individual would be responsible to the head of the department of the University for
one part of the contract and to the clinical director at the Trust for the other. Generally
this individual would be paid through the University with the NHS clinical part of the
salary paid by the NHS. Both the University and the Trust would perform recruitment
but the University is the main employer. This dual responsibility was explored in oral
evidence given by Professor Orme. He said,

‘all University clinical academics in the Faculty of Medicine have a contract
in which they provide six sessions to the NHS, ... and their responsibility in
that lies not to the Dean of Medicine but to the Chief Executive and Medical
Director of the Trust, and they are answerable in disciplinary terms to the
NHS in exactly the same way as an NHS consultant.’

Frequently, full-time NHS Trust clinical staff are asked to contribute to the teaching
of medical students. Those individuals may be given an honorary contract with the
University to perform this task and 1 or 2/11ths of their time would be dedicated
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accordingly. Funding for the training of medical students from the NHS viewpoint is
through a mechanism called SIfT (Service Increment for Teaching). The NHS Regional
Office controls allocation.

In addition to the University’s formal responsibility for educating medical students, it
should provide facilities for research in medicine. For this purpose it receives a grant
for medical and educational research from the Higher Education Funding Council for
England (HEFCE).

All University clinical staff are expected to undertake teaching and research. Additional
funding for research is received in a variety of ways: NHS Research and Development
funding, commercial support for clinical trials, support from UK Research Councils,

or from charitable or commercial sponsors. Responsibility for monitoring expenditure
depends on the source but HEFCE funding is managed by the University and NHS
Research and Development levy funding by the NHS.

These complex sets of arrangements involve both the Trust management and
University, the latter via the Faculty of Medicine. The two organisations should
maintain constant and close dialogue. Relationships are normally directed between
the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine and the Medical Director of the Trust, or at the
immediate level below being the head of the University Clinical Department and the
relevant clinical director at the Trust.

The potential for confusion in lines of accountability for jointly appointed academic
staff is summed up by Professor MacSween from Glasgow. Writing on 29 October
1992 to Professor Orme about academic appointments he said,

‘where appointments of this type have been made the routine has not always
been satisfactory, leading to separation of the academic and service (NHS)
components with eventual and undesirable fragmentation. I think this must
be avoided.’

A further complexity relates to accommodation. Medical Schools are usually located
within the NHS Trust or Trusts. The Liverpool University Medical School is located
within the Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospital NHS Trust but has a
range of teaching facilities located in other local NHS Trusts including the Royal
Liverpool Children’s Hospital NHS Trust. In the case of the latter, the accommodation
of the Institute of Child Health, part of the Medical School, is located on the Alder Hey
site. Universities usually pay for teaching accommodation through leasing arrangements.
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Internal Audit

External Audit

Internal audit was predominantly focused on finance, but not clearly defined before

the 1974 reorganisation. New management arrangements in 1974 defined internal audit
of hospitals as within the Regional and Area Treasurers’ responsibilities. Until the early
1980s the function tended to be performed by small teams of middle ranking grades,
although larger authorities could attract more qualified staff. The state of internal audit
is captured in a 1981 Public Accounts Committee report by the description ‘weak

and ineffective’.

Developments in the 1980s, such as production of the NHS Internal Audit Manual in
1987, led to an agreed definition of internal audit and minimum accepted standards.
These covered ‘soundness and adequacy of financial and other management controls,
compliance with established policies, plans and procedures, suitability and reliability
of financial and other management data within the organisation’. Emphasis was given
to the management’s ‘responsibility to establish systems of internal control for
operations for which it is responsible to ensure that these are properly run.” However,
in general, internal audit plans continued to focus on internal financial control rather
than the wider managerial or policy areas. '

The emerging Corporate Governance agenda in the last decade has driven the
establishment of Audit Committees in every NHS Trust and Authority. This provided
internal audit with an independent reporting line to the Board and outside the direct
control of Executives. It also gave internal audit greater freedom to move away from
finance-led audit to the wider management and health policy agenda, the latter covered
by the developing area of medical audit and clinical governance.

In the 1970s and 1980s, the Secretary of State for Health appointed auditors for
external audit of NHS bodies. The Finance Division of the Department of Health was
responsible for undertaking this statutory duty. The key objectives of external audit
were primarily financial but some Value for Money audits were undertaken. Hospital
pathology departments would have been scrutinised from the point of view of the use
of resources, staffing, accommodation, cost, output and accounting.

Responsibility for external audit passed to the Audit Commission in 1990. The
Commission is an independent body with statutory responsibilities to ensure efficiency
and effectiveness of public services, including the NHS. It appoints external auditors
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Clinical Audit

to Health Authorities and Trusts, from the District Audit Service or from private
firms. They review and report on all financial aspects, performance, efficiency and
effectiveness of use of all resources. They also sign off annual accounts and produce
reports of national and local efficiency studies.

The NHS reforms of 1991 established the principle that all clinicians should participate
in medical audit and in 1993 a strategy was established to move towards multi-
professional clinical audit. Progressive implementation has been given greater emphasis
and impetus through the introduction of the clinical governance agenda in 1997/98.
This provides a framework through which NHS organisations are accountable for
continuous improvement in the quality of services, involving full participation by

all doctors including specialty and sub specialty in external audit programmes.

The most recent development is the establishment of the National Institute for Clinical
Excellence (NICE) and the Commission for Health Improvement. NICE is developing
national clinical standards, oversees a range of functions at the Department of Health
and is the national centre for clinical audit. The Commission, currently being
established, will have a performance management role to ensure minimum clinical
standards are met, maintained and improved.

Ethics Committees

Medical research is widely considered to be essential. Ethical approval for medical
research is of equal importance. Whilst management responsibility ensures the
availability and use of resources and finance, independent advice needs to be sought
regarding ethical considerations. During 1991, District Health Authorities in England
were required to take responsibility both to establish Local Research Ethics Committees
(LRECS) and to provide administrative support. Each committee must have procedures
in place for appointing members and have Terms of Reference agreed with the NHS
organisations it advises.

The LREC exists to provide independent advice to any NHS body about proposed
research projects within the geographical area of the health district. It is neither
representative of nor beholden to any NHS organisation. The NHS organisation
involved makes a final decision on whether to proceed with the research project, taking
account of advice received from the LREC. Liverpool Health Authority has two Ethics
Committees, one for adults (aged 16 and over) and one for children {(aged under 16).
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Members do not sit on the committee in any representative capacity. The meetings
are held in private and the minutes taken are confidential to the committee to promote
free discussion.

The LREC must be consulted about research proposals involving NHS patients, the
recently deceased in NHS premises, the use of fetal material and IVF involving NHS
patients, where access to patient records is required or where access or use of NHS
facilities or premises is required. Once approval for a research project has been given,
it is the NHS organisation, research sponsor and researcher who are responsible for
ensuring the research follows the agreed protocol and for monitoring progress. No NHS
body should agree to such a research proposal without the approval of the LREC. No
such proposal should proceed without the permission of the responsible NHS body.

Universities have no remit to provide a clinical service and therefore rely upon their
staff to work through the respective NHS Trust to obtain ethical approval for research
from the LREC. University staff are also bound by their own discipline’s ethical
standards. Any significant deviation from the original proposal should be reported to
the LREC.

From July 1997, in addition to a Local Research Ethical Committee, a Multi-Centre
Research Ethics Committee (MREC) was established in each of the eight Regions
across England. The Research and Development Directorate of the NHS Executive was
given the responsibility for the MREC system. The purpose of the MREC is to advise
the LREC on research proposals that will be carried out within five or more LREC
geographical boundaries. Once MREC approval has been obtained, the LRECs in each
locality will have the opportunity to then accept or reject the proposal for local reasons.

Now, after simplified charts of the organisations, the detailed account can begin.
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1.1

Introduction

In Chapter 3 we explained that the wholesale retention of organs between 1988 and
1995 marked Alder Hey out from other hospitals where there was organ retention. We
explain in Chapter 8 ‘The van Velzen Years” how it was that those organs were allowed
to accumulate at Myrtle Street. We were able to identify a number of other collections
and they are the focus of this chapter.

The Heart Collection at the Institute Of Child Health

2.

2.1

2.2
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History; Personnel; the Institute of Child Health;

Contents of the Collection

The heart collection at the Institute of Child Health (ICH) at Alder Hey is well known
within the medical community in the UK and abroad. It has been difficult for the
Inquiry to establish the exact number of hearts within the collection. In October 1999
Hilary Rowland, Chief Executive at Alder Hey, reported that there were 2087. The
heart record books released to the Inquiry contain 2128 sequential entries. The
collection is widely considered to be one of the leading two collections in the country,
the other one being The National Heart and Lung Institute, Royal Brompton Hospital,
London, and one of the most extensive in the world. It includes many rare and unusual
congenital abnormalities of children’s hearts and has been the basis for teaching trainee
paediatric cardiologists, paediatric cardiac surgeons, nurses, echo-cardiographers and
medical students.

In 1939 Dr John Hay (subsequently Professor of Child Health) was appointed as
Physician to the Royal Liverpool Children’s Hospital. From early in his appointment he
took an interest in cardiology. In 1948 Mr Ronald Edwards was appointed as Surgeon
and the surgical service in Liverpool began. Although the official date of starting the
collection was said by the University of Liverpool to have been 1954 there is at least one
heart in the collection from 1948, which was joined by numerous others in 1949. During
the period 1948-1954 the collection was clearly established and continued to grow.

Dr Rewell, Pathologist at Myrtle Street Hospital and Dr Bouton, Pathologist at Alder
Hey, co-operated from an early stage. From 1954 onwards there is a record of monthly
meetings attended by anatomists, physiologists, pathologists, anaesthetists, cardiac
surgeons and cardiologists. These were both NHS and University personnel including
consultants, trainees and researchers. The results of surgery were reviewed and the
findings from examination of hearts following unsuccessfiil operations were discussed
to determine the causes of failure and to improve future operative procedures. This
would hopefully benefit children with congenital heart abnormalities in the future.
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The categorisation of congenital defects was also discussed. Dr Hay was joined in his
work by Dr R S Jones, Dr E Goldblatt and Dr G Farquhar, who were all at the time
substantive NHS appointees, save that Dr Goldblatt was also a part-time lecturer in the
University of Liverpool.

At the time the collection was established, treatment for heart abnormalities was
ineffective and mortality was high. There was a limited understanding of the anatomy
and the pathology of congenital heart disease. The nomenclature of various defects
was confused. Very little had been written about the pathology of the malformed heart.
Early attempts at diagnosis and surgery often foundered because of inadequate
knowledge of morphology, especially of complex defects. The heart store stimulated
study of structural and functional anatomy of the normal and abnormal heart and was
first used for surgical training in the Children’s Hospital in 1958.

Until the mid-1950s the diagnosis of congenital heart abnormalities during life was
made by a combination of clinical and X-ray examination. This was somewhat
inaccurate and meant that many abnormalities were not diagnosed until the heart was
opened at operation or at post mortem examination. Precise diagnosis became possible
with the introduction of cardiac catheterisation in the 1950s. This allowed the injection
of contrast media into the heart and the vessels around it so that any anatomical or
functional abnormalities could be defined on X-ray screening. It also enabled
measurements of the blood pressure and oxygen saturation to be made at various
critical sites in the heart itself and in the great blood vessels close to it.

The combination of radiology and applied physiology produced accurate diagnoses

of abnormalities of the heart because, for the first time, the tip of the catheter could be
located in precisely the correct place for injection and sampling. Failure to ensure the
correct position of the tip could lead to false and misleading information. Correct data
meant that the best operation for that child could be planned in advance, which
eliminated having to make the diagnosis at the time of operation.

Previously faulty or incomplete information led to poor planning and poor results.
Stitches interfered with contraction of the heart or damaged the coronary circulation.
Incisions, flaps or repairs were misplaced and harmful. Placing the catheter tip in the
correct position ensured accurate information on the interpretation of X-rays, blood
pressure and oxygen measurements, and on electrical measurement of the activity of the
heart. This skill was learned from study of the structure of the hearts in the collection,
and feedback from surgery and post mortem examination. Many of these diagnostic
techniques were explored and developed using hearts in the collection before they were
employed for the benefit of live children.

In 1966 the first funding was obtained by way of a grant for study on the
histopathology of the ocutlet of the heart in various congenital malformations by a
paediatric cardiologist. The grant from the Greenwood Trust (Children’s Research
Fund) allowed for the employment of Dr Audrey Smith as a Research Technologist.
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She was employed essentially to perform histopathology work for Professor
Bwczynski, Professor of Cardiology in Warsaw, Poland, who had access to material in
the heart collection which was stored at Myrtle Street Hospital. Her role was to work
with the hearts and process some of the microscopy. The laboratory facilities were in
the old Dental Hospital, although in due course Dr Smith, who worked initially on a
half-time basis, was given laboratory space in the Developmental Anatomy Laboratory
of the newly opened ICH at Alder Hey. The collection of hearts, however, remained
housed at Myrtle Street Hospital. The appointment of Dr Smith coincided with formal
documentation and categorisation of the entire collection, and a series of research
grants permitted her continued employment.

From 1968 Dr Robert Anderson, a pathologist then working in Manchester, started to
take an interest in cardiac morphology and travelled to Liverpool to use the collection,
It was, of course, Dr Anderson (by then Professor Anderson) who subsequently gave
evidence to the Bristol Inquiry in 1999, which led to the existence of the Alder Hey
heart collection coming into the public domain.

In the early 1970s the mortality rate for open heart surgery for neonates and infants
dropped dramatically. This surgery, developed in Liverpool, transformed an 85 per cent
mortality rate in the first year of life in some severe conditions into an 85 per cent
survival rate.

In 1978 the National Heart Research Fund started to provide funding to back a long
series of research projects.

Dr Smith was encouraged to perform her own research and obtained an MPhil in
October 1979. She was appointed to the academically related staff as research fellow
thus relieving the medical and surgical staff of the running of the laboratory, the
straightforward laboratory work and the care and maintenance of the collection.

On I January 1986 another Research Technologist was appointed, Mrs Gwen Connell.
Her role was to assist Dr Smith with her research, and to undertake the technical work
involved. Essentially she did some histology work and helped Dr Smith with her
studies on the heart collection.

In 1986 the new ICH building was opened at Alder Hey. The building included two
rooms specifically designed for the heart store and fetal store (see below). There was a
large developmental anatomy laboratory with a number of storage spaces designed to
store preserved human material. These storage spaces were cooled and had security
locks. There was also a dry room for the storage of blocks and sections. The expanding
heart collection was not re-housed in the new ICH until 1989 prior to closure of the
hospital site at Myrtle Street and the transfer of services to Alder Hey. By this time the
number of hearts was in the region of 2,000, and transfer of the collection made work at
the laboratory more efficient,
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Until 1990, funding for any research, which also supported Dr Smith’s salary, came
solely from charities whose primary concern was pure research. The Greenwood Trust,
the National Heart Research Fund, the British Heart Foundation and the Endowment
Fund of Royal Liverpool Children’s Hospital, all eminent bodies, offered support.

The care and maintenance of the collection was subsumed as an integral part of

the research.

In 1994 Dr Smith retired as a Research Fellow. She stili holds an Honorary Research
Fellowship and has continued to work in the ICH on a part-time basis working
predominantly with the heart collection.

Since 1990 the Head of the Department of Child Healih has been Professor Cooke,
Professor in Neonatal Medicine at the University of Liverpool since 1988. His
immediate predecessor was Professor Lloyd, Professor of Paediatric Surgery, who was
acting Head for a short time following the departure of the previous Head, Professor
Frank Harris, who held the post from October 1974 until leaving the University in
December 1989,

Source of the Hearts

The initial source of the hearts was from children who had died after unsuccessful heart
surgery at Liverpool Children’s Hospital. The Inquiry’s formal investigations begin in
1962, the Human Tissue Act having come into force in 1961. Professor van Velzen took
up post in 1988. Retention today of organs removed during the period 1962 to 1988 has
been confined to heart and lung specimens. However, it should be understood that a
standard way of removing the heart and lungs at post mortem was to take the tongue
and neck tissues in addition. Many of the heart and lung specimens contained within
the ICH include other organs/tissue such as, for example, the tongue, thyroid, larynx
and trachea. This retention does not arise as a result of any particular need for such
material but as a consequence of the method used to obtain the heart and lung specimens.

For much of this period the pathologist at Alder Hey was Dr Bouton, who retired in
1986. We were unable to take evidence from Dr Bouton on grounds of his ill health.

A detailed medical certificate was provided by his treating doctor and we were entirely
satisfied that to interview Dr Bouton would have been inappropriate and unhelpful.
Evidence as to his practices, however, has been obtained.

It is clear that Dr Bouton did not retain organs beyond hearts and lungs, except those
included due to the method of removal explained in paragraph 3.1. The need to fix the
brain for a period of several weeks following post mortem examination meant that there
would have been initial retention of some brains (probably followed by disposal), in
accordance with usual procedures prevailing nationally. The recollection of those
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clinicians who gave evidence to the Inquiry was that Dr Bouton did undertake
histology. He was considered to be a good pathologist, although someone from whom it
was often difficult to get prompt reports and who would often have to be chased. It was
felt that as he grew older he lost some of his enthusiasm, that he was somewhat
irascible and that there was no real desire on his part to advance the Department of
Pathology. It would be fair to say that the service was considered satisfactory, but
nothing more.

The Inquiry’s clinical expert, Dr Keeling, did examine a number of hearts from this
period and found them to be fully dissected with detailed requests available. The post
mortem reports during this period were rarely more than two pages in length. A brief
clinical history was given. Weight and body measurements were included together
with an external description. Organ weights were recorded. Variable microscopic
examination was done, which on occasion was confined to two or three organs. The
reports written by senior trainees or the forensic pathologist were more detailed than
those done by Dr Bouton. His reports were sometimes unacceptably brief which made
it difficult to confirm or refute the syndrome diagnoses. A final diagnosis or summary
was rarely included so that the significance of findings was, in some cases, in doubt.

There was a general expectation that hearts/hearts and lungs would be made available
to the ICH and retained. In her witness statement of 6 June 2000, Dr Smith stated,

‘Generally accepted practice within Alder Hey was that the cardiologists or
surgeons would hope to be able to see the heart in cases of congenital heart
disease for the purpose of clinical audit. The pathologists would understand
that and would allow the heart following post mortem to be transferred to

our Department. It was generally expected that where a post mortem had

been performed with relevant findings (ic malformed heart) the heart would be
preserved. 1 am not, however, aware of any standing instructions in writing. ...
It was never the practice that we would obtain every single heart from each post
mortem. We would sometimes be sent normal hearts which we would use,
together with fetal hearts, as control material and we have also done studies on
the hearts of babies who have died from Sudden Infant Death Syndrome where
generally the heart would be of grossly normal anatomy.’

Dr Smith’s statement was confirmed by Professor Cooke,

‘I cannot say whether in every case where there was a PM following death
due to congenital heart disease, the heart would make its way into the ICH,
but I would say that it certainly did in most cases.’

The practice of sending the heart and lungs to the Institute was clearly well established.
The locum Consultant Pathologist, Dr Ibrahim, who worked at Alder Hey from
November 1986 to August 1988, following Dr Bouton’s retirement, confirmed that his
practice was not to retain any organs at post mortem, other than the heart:
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‘I would generally meet with the surgeon, cardiologist and Audrey Smith at
Myrtle Street to look at the heart in detail, and the heart would be kept in the
collection in the ICH. Audrey Smith would look carefully at the conducting
system, and even by the time I left Alder Hey I would not say that [ was an
expert cardiac pathologist. The custom was very much to retain the heart.’

Indeed, the pathologists as a whole were clearly well aware of what was “expected’ of
them. The culture of expectation, on the part of both clinicians and pathologists, may
well have been such that the issue of requisite consent from parents became, if not a
secondary consideration, something viewed as a mere formality. There was little change
in the era of Professor van Velzen. Dr Khine stated,

‘In Alder Hey if a child had died of congenital heart disease then it was
expected that one would retain the heart and lungs so that the specimens could
go to the ICH. It would have taken a very brave person not to have sent those
specimens through. If a congenital problem were suspected [ would therefore
have retained the heart and if there was a need to look at the conducting system
I would probably retain a large part of the heart if not the whole. There was
pressure to retain the heart and lungs in appropriate cases as every so often
there would be telephone calls either from Dr Audrey Smith at the ICH or from
the Cardiologists such as Miss McKay or Mr Franks who would provide a list
of names where heart retention might be appropriate.”

However, Professor van Velzen himself was to prove somewhat less accommodating.
This was not because of any qualms on his part as to retention but rather his own desire
to have personal access to the hearts, which he removed at post mortem examination. In
1990 Dr Smith noticed that the transfer of hearts to the ICH from Alder Hey began to
decrease and eventually it ceased altogether. This caused her obvious concern as she
appreciated the importance of updating the collection on a regular basis,

‘Within the laboratory at the ICH it was clear to see the slowing down of new
material. I did discuss this with the cardiologists and the surgeons to tell them
that material was not coming through, and I also rang Professor van Velzen’s
department on a number of occasions to try to ask him if I could view a
particular case. I did not generally however, have any positive response

from him.’

In her oral evidence Dr Smith felt that it was probably during 1993 when the flow of
hearts to the ICH from Alder Hey dried up altogether. On 11 August 1994 she wrote

to Professor Cooke bemoaning the ‘dearth of new material arriving in the laboratory,
although I understand that deaths are occurring at the rate of approximately 40 per year.
The scarcity of new material naturally contributes to lack of stimulus for anatomical
research by our clinicians and surgeons.’
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She asked Professor Cooke to encourage Professor van Velzen to establish a better
throughput. There is no evidence to suggest the situation changed even after Professor
van Velzen’s effective removal from Alder Hey in December 1994. Dr Kokai, who took
up his post of Senior Lecturer in Paediatric Pathology in January 1996, did not send
hearts through as a matter of routine. This was despite the fact that Dr Smith had
written to Henry Meade, the Pathology Service Manager, on 16 May 1995, explaining
the benefit of the heart collection as a ‘very valuable teaching resource’ and setting out
a protocol in an attempt to ensure continuity of her work investigating the morphology
of congenital cardiac malformations.

In December 1995, following the decommissioning of the Myrtle Street building and
the break up of Professor van Velzen’s department, a batch of 50 hearts was transferred
from Myrtle Street to the ICH. Some of these hearts dated back to 1989 but Dr Smith
was not able to deal with them as she would have liked, due to her other commitiments.
Counsel to the Inquiry asked Dr Smith whether she could remember the condition of
these particular hearts when they arrived and queried whether Professor van Velzen had
attempted to examine them himself. Dr Smith responded,

‘I cannot answer that because ... I did not get a chance to look at them. Of the
50, there were seven that we actually took out and gave a catalogue number.
Four of those we selected for special study which, in view of what happened
afterwards, did not take place and all those hearts went back eventually to the
Pathology Department. So I did not get a chance to look at all of them.’

However, the flow of hearts to the ICH had not dried up completely. Dr Smith
confirmed that hearts from children who had attended the heart clinic but who had died
outside the area would still be sent by the hospitals where Alder Hey cardiologists had
regular peripheral clinics, in places such as Manchester, Blackpool, Preston or
Wrexham. Dr Amold confirmed in his witness statement dated 19 June 2000 that hearts
would be sent to Dr Smith for examination ‘from all over the country: many of the
hearts in the ICH collection are not local.’

This was confirmed by Liam Nolan, who commenced employment at Alder Hey in
November 1999 as a locum Medical Laboratory Scientific Officer (MLSO), with a
Master’s Degree in Pathology. He had access to the containers in the ICH as part of

the recataloguing process undertaken by Alder Hey in July 2000. He confirmed that

the ICH books showed that various hearts dating back to the 1970s were in fact sent to
the ICH in the early 1990s. By inference those hearts must have been stored at hospitals
elsewhere and sent to Alder Hey as a result of the reputation acquired by the heart
collection. Hearts from Addenbrookes Hospital, Cambridge, were sent to the ICH in
this way, but the more usual source of hearts external to Alder Hey was North Western
hospitals where clinicians based at Alder Hey had out-patient clinics.
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It appeared to be recognised locally that there was the facility at Alder Hey for the
specialist examination of hearts taken at post mortem. In particular the Inquiry has seen
documentation focusing on the transfer of hearts from Royal Preston Hospital to Alder
Hey. The Preston documentation was of particular note because an investigation by the
Medical Director of Preston Acute Hospitals NHS Trust had been undertaken in May
2000 to establish why in some cases the tongue, thyroid, larynx and trachea had been
removed in addition to the heart and lung. The investigation confirmed that this was a
consequence of the way in which the heart and lungs had been removed at post
mortem. We believe that many of the heart and lungs specimens contained within the
ICH include similar organs and tissue. The Alder Hey recataloguing process confirmed
this in July 2000. This calls into question the integrity of the information about
retention initially given to parents by Alder Hey, when the presence of such other
organs was not specifically mentioned.

Cataloguing; Storage; Maintenance and

Procedures

Dr Smith confirmed that the system of registration/cataloguing evolved over the years.
The procedure initially adopted was not quite the same as the later more definitive
version. Essentially the heart was collected from the histopathology department, and
then recorded in the daybook as it was brought into the laboratory. The daybook
recorded the child’s identification information and the heart was allocated a
chronological number. The heart was then examined to identify any major
malformation and placed broadly into an alphanumeric classification in a different
catalogue book, for example C18 or J23, the C or ] being a code for the individual
anomaly and the number reflecting the number of hearts with that particular anomaly.
It was then placed on the shelf, in its container, until required for further detailed
examination. The alphanumeric classifications were then listed at the back of the
catalogue (for example C1-C18, J1-J23). By reference to the catalogue and daybook
one could, in theory, trace any individual heart and ascertain the identity, or
alternatively trace any heart within a particular anomaly. The container itself bore the
alphanumeric classification. Sometimes the organ carried this classification itself, by
way of a dymo tape tag. Dr Smith felt that there was always sufficient information to
identify the heart. It would certainly have been possible for researchers to trace hearts
with a defect in which they were particularly interested but identification of the source
of the heart was not consistently clear.

Throughout the Inquiry we received a significant volume of evidence outlining the
benefits of the heart collection. This is explored in greater detail later. We were urged
by both Alder Hey and the University to consider the heart collection in a completely
different way from the collection of organs assembled at Myrtle Street under Professor
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van Velzen. It was stressed that the heart collection had been accessed frequently, had
been a valuable tool in terms of research, education and training, and that the collection
had been well respected and cared for and properly maintained. We accept this evidence.

However, the re-cataloguing exercise undertaken by Alder Hey in 2000, which included
the hearts and lungs in the 1CH, did reveal cause for concem in relation to the proper
identification of the individual child from whom the heart had been removed. Liam
Nolan suggested that there were in the region of 150 hearts where identification was
uncertain and explained some of the problems which had arisen. In some cases hearts
had been entered in the daybook with no identification of the child. For example
‘Bangor’ was not an infrequent entry. We understand that Bangor is the hospital from
where the heart was received. Some jars had no numbers and in the absence of tags
these hearts were unidentifiable. In other cases up to ten hearts (usually ‘normal’ and
listed as controls) had been stored together in one container and whilst the books
allowed identification of the group of ten, the individual tags attached to each had
fallen off. This meant that for identification purposes no distinction between the hearts
could be made. The collection therefore achieved its aim of summarising the particular
defect associated with an individual heart, but its priority had not been the identification
by patient name of each heart. That information was therefore not as accurate as it
should have been. In August 2000 Alder Hey confirmed publicly that hearts in the ICH
could not be accurately identified.

We had already noted these difficulties in identification following witness evidence
relating to the initial cataloguing of the containers in October 1999. We heard of ten
hearts that had been labelled and re-coded only as ‘baby’ with a case sheet number
from an unknown hospital. Mrs Elizabeth Clapham, one of the MLSOs involved in the
initial cataloguing confirmed that ‘in some instances there would have been organs the
identification of which was unclear. Anything which could not be identified positively
was not put on to the database.’

Whilst she felt this only represented a handful of cases she accepted,

‘It is however, therefore the case that a parent may have rung up subsequently
and been toid that there had been no organ retention whereas in fact that
parent’s child’s organs could have been amongst the unidentifiable specimens.’

Because of the concerns raised in relation to identification we have had to study the
validity and consistency of the various heart books. There are four in total. Heart Book
I begins in January 1955 and ends in April 1971. In fact it includes information on
hearts retained from at least 1948, as explained earlier. Heart Book II begins in May
1971 and ends in May 1982, Heart Book III begins in June 1982 and ends in September
1988. Heart Book IV begins in October 1988 and continues until the present.
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Heart Book I contains a number of discrepancies. In two cases there is no evidence
whatsoever of the date or origin of the heart being recorded, whilst the ‘Bangor’
references mentioned above are common within this Heart Book. From a period of
approximately October 1966 to May 1967 (Heart Log No.520-564) no dates are
recorded as to when hearts were received. It is difficult to say with complete certainty
if any of the dates are correct because occasionally the dates when the heart has been
received are inconsistent, a trend which continues throughout the Heart Books. There
is similar failure to record dates during the period May 1967 to July 1969.

Heart Book II contains a smaller number of discrepancies and this seems to be a much
fuller and complete Heart Book.

Heart Book 1II contains numerous discrepancies, including 265 hearts recorded without
any note of when they were received. 155 of these are near to the end of the book,
which suggests that it became common practice at the time. There are also two log
number entries that do not contain any details as to origin or the dates when the hearts
were received.

Heart Book IV also contains discrepancies, there being 174 instances when no date
was recorded for when hearts were received, including some with no details of the
origin of the hearts. There are also entries where the source is recorded but no date
given. Towards the end of the book 42 hearts are added to the collection but no medical
classification under the alphanumeric system has been recorded. This raises concern,

as unless and until those hearts have been correctly catalogued they will be of little
teaching or research benefit.

Consent

The value and benefits generally of the cardiac collection are obvious. This does not
in itself justify the collection. There has to be appropriate consent.

The hearts were taken at both Coroner’s and hospital post mortem examinations. In the
case of hospital post mortem examinations specific consent — or more properly ‘lack of
objection’ — from parents was required under the Human Tissue Act 1961. The question
of whether consent was obtained properly by clinicians from parents under the Human
Tissue Act is addressed in Chapter 10. We note that Mrs England, in her capacity as
Acting Director of Operational Services, wrote to the solicitor to the Bristol Inquiry on
13 September 1999 and said,

“The specific issue about retained tissue was probably not discussed in detail,
if at all ... It was agreed that no-one was asking specifically if the heart could
be kept... Specific training in obtaining consent was not undertaken.’
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Mrs England made it clear that she understood this to be in accordance with national
standard practice at the time.

A Coroner’s post mortem examination does not require consent. It is a matter of law.
However, the consent of the parents should be obtained to authorise the retention of
hearts removed legitimately for clinical purposes at Coroner’s post mortem
examinations. We consider this further in Chapter 9. The recent approach adopted by
the Paediatric Research Ethics Committee at Alder Hey is perhaps significant. In April
2000 the Committee made it clear to Dr Smith that consent should be obtained from
parents for ‘the re-use of retained tissue’ despite concerns that this requirement might
carry the risk of causing distress to parents whose children had long since died.

What was the Purpose of the Collection;

Who Used lt; What Were the Benefits?

There can be no doubt that use of the heart collection has been invaluable in terms of
research, education and training. In 1985 Dr Smith started a programme of regular
lectures and demonstrations to nurses. In 1993, following a request by Dr Pozzi,
Consultant Cardiac Surgeon, she established a course of 20 lectures and
demonstrations, using the material from the collection, especially for the surgical team,
but open to any other interested parties. Dr Smith was invited to demonstrate hearts on
many occasions at prestigious meetings, both at home and abroad, including the
European Association of Cardiothoracic Surgery. The collection provided specimens
for the opening sessions on specific malformations at various Study Days that attracted
international delegates. In May 1995 there was an International Congress when

170 people registered, from 12 different countries.

Dr Smith confirmed that staff often found it invaluable to review examples of a
particular anomaly, on an individual basis or in small groups. This was useful for
diagnosis, correlation with echo-cardiographic and angio-cardiographic results, or as a
preliminary to operating on a specific anomaly. Newly acquired specimens were used for
many years at meetings now classified as audit. Here the echo- and angio-cardiographic
findings, diagnostic surgery and post mortem findings and the pathology of the heart
were discussed together. She indicated that surgeons found it invaluable to review their
operations on the autopsied heart and confirmed that this was an essential part of
surgical audit, was fundamental in the process of the constant striving for surgical
improvement. The constant aim was to minimise the mortality rate of cardiac surgery.

Heart specimens have also been used to study the detailed anatomy of cardiac
abnormalities, to develop methods of diagnosis in life, to develop operations and
techniques, to review the results of surgery and for training. Some of the most unusual
have been used by visitors from both the UK and abroad to plan operations on these
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rare conditions. The collection has been a significant factor in the development of
neonatal and paediatric cardiac surgery not only in Liverpool but throughout the world.
In 1999 a surgeon came from Japan to examine two examples of a very rare congenital
abnormality of the heart which are in the collection so that he could understand the
abnormal anatomy and plan the operation which his patient required.

There is also evidence of developments through research as a result of use of the
collection. More than 200 scientific papers including information derived from the
collection have been produced. In the early years much work was done to establish

an international system to describe abnormal hearts so as to ensure conformity in
discussion. The congenitally abnormal heart may have many significant differences
from the normal. One of the most important is the position and structure of the tissues
which control the contraction of the heart. These are normally in the middle of the heart
but in the malformed organ are often at the back or front so that they may be damaged
at operation if the malposition is not known and understood. These tissues and other
aspects of the disturbed anatomy of abnormal cardiac development were extensively
studied in the hearts of the collection, producing significant advances and improvement
in the techniques and results of cardiac surgery on children. A number of pioneering
techniques for unusual and complex abnormalities were developed from intensive and
detailed study of the hearts in the collection.

Interestingly, many of the most valuable hearts are those which originated in the very
first years of the collection, as they demonstrate anomalies which have not been
operated upon. However, it is important to keep adding new hearts to the collection
as certain investigations require destruction of specimens through dissection and the
creation of sections.

Perhaps the most compelling evidence of the value of the collection was the dramatic
reduction in the mortality rate following complex cardiac surgery. Two-thirds of babies
born with severe abnormalities of the heart die in the first week of life if they are not
operated on and more will not survive the next three weeks. To prevent such early
deaths and to improve the health of children with severe abnormalities approximately
6,500 open-heart operations have been carried out since 1970 on children of all ages at
Myrtle Street and Alder Hey. Some were done in the first month of life, some in the
first year and some in the next few years. The younger the baby or child and the more
complex the abnormality, the greater the risk of surgery. The mortality rate following
all such surgery has fallen from 20 per cent in 1970 to 3.6 per cent in 1999, The
improvement is particularly striking in the 2,000 or so children operated on in the first
year of life. Their mortality following surgery fell from 75 per cent in 1970 to 32 per
cent in 1984 and has continued to fall since then, to 6 per cent in 1999. There are now
more than 1,600 living children who would have died in infancy or childhood without
the improvements in surgical techniques and care which were pioneered in Liverpool,
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Whilst it would be disingenuous to suggest that the lowering of the mortality rate is
solely due to use of the heart collection alone, there can be no doubt that pioneering
positive developments have resulted directly from work undertaken surrounding the
heart collection. One cardiac surgeon who illustrated this graphically was Dr Pozzi,

‘T used that collection extensively and it has been an invaluable experience for
me. It has improved my surgical results, reducing the number of deaths and
serious complications. It is regrettable from a training and education point of
view that our acquisition of heart specimens has been in decline, but I accept
that public perceptions and feelings have changed. We have to accept that.’

Who Knew of the Heart Collection?

The existence of the heart collection at Alder Hey was no secret; in fact quite the
contrary. The reputation of the collection was such that its existence was known widely
both within Alder Hey and the University and externally in the medical world. In her
witness statement of 2 June 2000 Ms Rowland stated,

‘No-one would deny that they were aware of the heart collection.’

Whose Responsibility was the Collection?

It is clear from the evidence that the practical day-to-day responsibility for maintenance
of the heart collection lay with Dr Smith. However, as Head of the Department of Child
Health, Professor Cooke was ultimately responsible for all collections within the ICH.
Dr Smith did not see Professor Cooke as a line manager as such. She explained that if
she had problems regarding the heart coliection she would go to the cardiologists or
the surgeons. Essentially, she regarded herself as, and was, autonomous within the
Department. Similarly, Professor Cooke did not really see himself as exercising a co-
ordinating function. We found the absence of a proper management structure
concerning. Fortunately Dr Smith was clearly a woman of integrity who did not abuse
her position and who was well aware of her responsibilities. However, proper
management controls did not exist.

Professor Cooke’s predecessor, Professor Lloyd, agreed that the Institute constituted
a disparate collection of individuals doing research and that there was no co-ordinated
function as such,
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‘The fetal collection and the cardiac collection was a bit out on a limb, because
it did not belong to paediatric surgery or paediatric medicine, it was really in the
ambit of the Cardiology Department, and they are not a University Department.
So there was no clear line of responsibility, but ultimately from the University
side, given that Audrey Smith was a University employee, then in that direction,
it went up to the Head of Department.’

He accepted, however, in oral evidence, that ultimately as Acting Head of the
Department he was responsible for the collections, and, of course, that responsibility
would have passed to Professor Cooke when he became Head of the Department.

We were surprised at the clear disagreement between Alder Hey and the University
about the ultimate responsibility for the heart collection. In its closing submissions
Alder Hey emphasised the fact that the ICH was a University Department run by a
University researcher, and that whilst many of the hearts came from patients of Alder
Hey, hearts from all over the country would have been sent to Dr Smith. It was
accepted that Alder Hey had undoubtedly received clear benefits for its patients by
having access to the ICH collection. It also had particular benefit from access to

Dr Smith, from whom clinicians had received a great deal of help and information of
undoubted clinical benefit. It was further accepted that there had been research projects
involving Dr Smith and the clinicians at Alder Hey using the collection and Alder Hey
therefore accepted some ‘moral’ responsibility for the heart collection having
contributed to and used it. However, Alder Hey submitted that the administrative
responsibility for heart collection continued to lie with the University of Liverpool.

However, Mr Robert Francis QC, on behalf of the University, stressed that overall
responsibility was that of Alder Hey. In his opening submissions he accepted that
University staff, in an academic sense, had had access to the heart collection, had
written papers, that the collection had been maintained by a University employee, and
that the collection was housed in a building leased from Alder Hey by the University.
He also pointed to the fact that it was Alder Hey staff, under the direction of Alder Hey
managerent, who identified the organs in response to the parental requests, that it was
Alder Hey management who arranged for the transfer of material from Myrtle Street in
1995, and that it was Alder Hey which accepted responsibility for the reporting of the
collection to the Chief Medical Officer’s (CMO) Survey.

The Dean of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Liverpool, Professor Peter
Johnson, observed in his witness statement of 5 June 2000,

‘I had been aware of the existence of the heart collection because of the specific
references in Stephen Gould’s report and also because of comments made by
Hilary Rowland to the effect that the hospital was very proud of its heart
collection which it perceived as its own, and which was considered immensely
valuable for training in cardiac surgery.’
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We found the concept of ‘ownership’ unhelpful. The issues were essentially possession
and control. In his oral evidence Professor Johnson accepted that the cardiac collection
was within the University site, and that there was University and clinical use. On this
basis we must conclude that the ultimate responsibility for the cardiac collection

was joint.

The Fetal Collection at the Institute of Child Health

9.

6.1

9.2
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History; Personnel; Contents of the Collection

Within the ICH there is a collection of fetal material. In February 2000 the University
of Liverpoo! returned information to the CMO relating to the collection, to comply with
the CMO’s census to determine the scale of retention of organs, body parts and tissues.
The completed census form confirmed that the ICH held 1,564 stillbirths or pre-viable
fetus. That figure includes 52 late premature or term fetus although none since 1973.

The store of primarily intact fetal tissue started in 1955, with identification details from
1975, and the collection ceased in 1992. As in the heart collection, the instigator of the
collection was Dr Hay. The collection was initially stored on the old Dental Hospital
site and the fetus were obtained from Broadgreen, Mill Road, Walton (later Fazakerley),
Whiston and St Catherine’s Hospitals. In 1986 the new ICH building was opened and
included a room specifically designed for the fetal store. At one stage the collection
contained a total of 3,575 fetus but in the three years before transferring to ICH a
substantial number were incinerated. Decisions about disposal were made according

to the state of the tissue and the organs which had been removed. However, problems
were then experienced with the Alder Hey incinerator and this practice ceased.

Collection continued until 1992, although there was no conscious departmental decision
to cease collection at that time. When Ms Connell, who looked after the collection on a
day-to-day basis, took up her position in 1986, the number of hospitals providing fetal
material to the ICH had diminished. Only Fazakerley and Mill Road were still involved
in supplying fetus. Fazakerley stopped providing material shortly afterwards, leaving
Mill Road as the sole source of material. In 1992 Mill Road closed and fetal material
was no longer offered to the ICH. In addition there were no new postgraduate students
coming through with an interest in this type of work.

In August 1992 a working party was set up by Liverpool Obstetrics and Gynaecology
Services NHS Trust to consider the question of disposal of fetal tissue.
Recommendations were that whilst fetus of less than 14 weeks gestation should be
‘cremated on hospital premises’ the parents’ views in relation to the burial or cremation
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of fetus from 14 weeks gestation up to the legal age for viability should be respected.
The ICH took the view that it did not have funding to introduce any such practice of
dignified disposal and so the disposal of the fetal tissue simply did not take place.

The fetus within the ICH collection include miscarriages, therapeutic and social
terminations. After Professor van Velzen took up his post in September 1988
procedures were changed so that the ICH would forward to him any fetus from
therapeutic terminations or miscarriages which it might receive but would retain the
fetus from social terminations. If, however, a fetus were observed which was thought
to be slightly abnormal then that too would be transferred to Professor van Velzen.
Similarly, a fetus from a termination where the mother had, for example, a history of
drug-taking would be sent to Professor van Velzen because of his specific interest in
fetal pathology.

Cataloguing; Storage; Maintenance and

Procedures; Consent

The system for collection was that the Institute would receive a telephone call from
someone on a hospital ward, confirming that a fetus was available for collection. A
special Howie box was used for the collection and for carrying pathological material,
The usual source was Mill Road Hospital, and the technician collected the fetus from
a fridge at the end of the ward and put it in the Howie box. A form was completed by
the referring hospital containing certain information as to the identity of the mother,
her partner, and their smoking and alcohol history. The form was later amended by
Professor van Velzen, to make it clear that social terminations only should go to the
ICH and all other fetal studies to his department, and also it removed the need for
information about the father to be recorded. There was no other documentation, so
Ms Connel! would not know the extent of any discussion between clinicians and the
mother regarding consent. She assumed however, that consent had been given because
in some instances mothers ultimately asked for the return of the fetus for burial.

Ms Connell says that such requests were probably only made five or six times a year.
There would be one or two new fetus coming into the ICH each week.

There were two cross-referenced books cataloguing the fetal specimens. The ‘mother
book’ contained the patient’s name and hospital patient number and recorded whether
the termination was induced, spontaneous or therapeutic. The ‘baby book’ confirmed
the date upon which the specimen arrived at the ICH, the sex, the foot length and
weight in order that an estimated age could be attributed to the fetus. The ‘baby book’
entry was anonymous, but had the same number as that allocated in the ‘mother book’
so that the two books were cross-referenced. The ‘baby book’ confirmed the condition
of the fetus and recorded the container number in which the fetus was to be stored. Any
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specimens removed for serial sectioning were recorded in the laboratory histology
books and cross-referenced to case numbers. The University is presently cataloguing
the entire store in substantial depth. The forms referred to above were kept within the
ICH, but no specific consent documentation was held.

11. Polkinghorne Report

11.1  The absence of specific consent documentation is particularly significant, given
the findings of the Review of the Guidance on the Research Use of Fetus and
Fetal Material (CM 762 HMSO), known as the Polkinghorne Report. The report
was published in July 1989 and gave guidance on the research use of fetus and fetal
material. The report makes it clear that the written consent of the mother was required
for fetal research after July 1989, even though strictly the pre-viable fetus and the
mother had no rights in law. In section 6.3 of the report the committee stated,

‘We recommend that positive explicit consent should be obtained from mothers
to the use of the fetus or fetal tissue. We see the process of consent as requiring
the mother to be counselled and given all the information, in a form that is
comprehensible to enable her to make a proper judgement of whether or not to
allow the fetus to be used for research and therapy, including transplantation.’

11.2  Despite the clear recommendations of the Polkinghorne Report it seems that they were
essentially ignored. The ICH continued to receive fetus with no written consent and in
circumstances where the University ignored its own duty under section 3.8 of the Code
of Practice,

‘On the same principle the user should be able to satisfy itself that any material
it receives has been procured in accordance with the requirements of this Code.
It must keep records indicating the appropriate source of any fetal tissue and of
the use to which it is put, but should not reveal details of the use to the source.’

11.3  The forms which accompanied the fetus (see paragraph 10.1) were not consent forms
and in reality were nothing more than information sheets completed by the referring
hospital, and did not provide evidence that any relevant discussion had taken place
resulting in consent to research being given by the mother. The problem was
highlighted by Dr Smith prior to the Polkinghorne Report and following the
introduction of the new Anatomy Regulations in 1988. She wrote to Professor Harris
on 15 February 1988,

‘We understand that the mothers are always consuited about the material
coming to Alder Hey but I do not think that permission is given in writing.
Perhaps we should have written permission. This would mean setting out
a standard form. Who would be responsible for that?’
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It seems that this specific query was never followed through properly. Professor Harris
could not recall taking matters further. The present Head of Department, Professor
Cooke, admitted in oral evidence that he ‘naturally assumed’ that appropriate consent
documentation had been obtained. He submitted that the obstetricians were people
known to the ICH and it could be assumed that proper consent had been given. That
did not satisfy the Department’s duty under section 3.8 to assure itself that the fetal
material had been obtained with appropriate consent.

The problems in this area were also highlighted in the oral evidence of Professor Lioyd
who confirmed that there was no individual designated with overall responsibility to
ensure compliance with the Polkinghorne Report. He admitted that there was no
perception of the importance of the recommendations, and also that there was no formal
mechanism within the ICH to ensure compliance with such issues. The present Dean,
Professor Johnson, expressed his surprise at the failure of Professors Lloyd and Cooke
to be aware of and act upon the Polkinghorne Report. The failure to comply with the
Code of Practice established by the Polkinghorne Report emphasises the lack of proper
management systems and accountability within the ICH on the part of the University.

What was the Purpose of the Collection;

Who Used It; What Were the Benefits?

At a meeting of a special working group (established by Professor Johnson in
December 1999 to consider the fetal collection) there was discussion of the fetal
collection. It was confirmed that 47 publications had been produced from work on the
collection, beginning in 1959 and ending in 1993. Six papers were published in the
period 1989 to 1993, and research on the fetal collection had actually stopped in 1992,
The collection was used to facilitate work on the development of the gut in relation to
Hirschprung’s disease, work in relation to adrenal glands to assist with the treatment of
neuroblastoma and work on the development of ureters. Work had also been undertaken
on other sections of the gut and pancreas, and on the development of the fetal heart and
conduction tissue. In earlier years there had also been important projects on cranio-
facial abnormalities. Approved students would have access to the collection through the
usual channels. Anyone beginning a research project would have required ethical
approval from one of the appropriate ethics committees.

The methods used for the research often demanded fresh tissue and work was
sometimes undertaken on specimens from fetus obtained within two hours of the
termination procedure. The papers indicate the number of fetus used and most
of the material was published in high quality peer reviewed journals.
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It is a matter of concern that the fetal collection has essentially lain dormant since 1992.
Professor Cooke speculated that it might be possible for timited research to be
undertaken but he had previously doubted the collection’s value for research purposes
because of the age of much of the material. It appears unlikely that the collection can
still be considered a useful research tool. In her witness statement dated 6 June

Ms Connell stated,

‘I cannot explain why the fetus collection has been maintained in view of the
fact that collection has ceased and there has been no recent research. I know
that the incineration facilities at the hospital closed in or around 1992/1993,
and I also believe that the regulations regarding disposal may have changed
due to the input of SANDS (Society for Stillbirth And Neonatal Deaths) and
so it could be that a reason for the collection remaining is difficulty as to the
appropriate method of disposal. I know that those fetus that were previously
regarded as of no further use or those which were badly macerated were
incinerated. It is not necessarily essential to have fresh material to undertake
research. Whilst immunocytochemistry work would require fresh material, -
developmental work would not necessarily.’

Who Knew of the Fetal Collection?
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It is clear that the fetal collection was treated much more sensitively than the heart
collection in terms of the dissemination of information as to its existence, Ms Connell
said in her witness statement dated 6 June,

‘Whilst the heart collection was very widely known within the Trust I do not
know how many people knew or know about the fetal collection. I did treat the
fetal collection with more sensitivity although I cannot remember whether this
was on anyone’s specific instructions. I felt however, that as many of the fetus
were social terminations that some people would not agree with the collection
in the sense that they objected to terminations per se.’

In her witness statement also dated 6 June Dr Smith said,

‘Some people at Alder Hey would have known about the existence of the fetal
collection and some people who undertook research on it came to be employed
on the hospital staff. The collection was obviously sensitive and was never
publicised widely although its existence was never denied. The heart collection
was obviously well known and used for teaching purposes by the Trust. The
fetal collection was not used for teaching but only ever for research purposes by
people specifically appointed to do so. There would therefore be no reason for
individuals from the Trust to be accessing the fetal collection. Professor Lloyd
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(Paediatric Surgery) and Professor Cooke (Paediatric Medicine) would have
known about the existence of the fetal collection. They would have been
required to approve the appointment of any research fellows, as were their
predecessors, Professor Lister and Professor Harris.’

Professor Cooke also confirmed the potential sensitivity of the collection,

“There was also published work on the fetal material, although that collection
was dealt with discreetly and people knew as much as they needed to know.’

Knowledge of the existence of the fetal collection does not appear to have been
widespread. Indeed, Professor Orme, who was Dean of the Faculty of Medicine at the
University of Liverpool from August 1991 to July 1996, was unaware of the fetal
collection. He felt that this was something to which his attention should have been
drawn, presumably by Professor Cooke as Head of Department of Child Health,

‘Even at that time [ would have expected to have been informed of a collection
as sensitive as that.’ '

His successor as Dean, Professor Johnson, did not discover the existence of the fetal
collection until visiting the ICH on 7 December 1999. He was concerned enough to
ask Ms Connell to take immediate steps to change the lock and code of the room
holding the collection and to ask her to collate appropriate research papers in relation
to the material.

Whose Responsibility was the Collection?

14.1

14.2

Despite the present and previous Deans’ ignorance of the existence of the fetal
collection, it is clearly the University which bears responsibility for the collection,
as confirmed in the CMO census. Professor Johnson said,

‘In terms of “ownership” of the various collections, it was clear that the fetal
store in the ICH belonged to the University. Whilst the Myrtle Street store had
been put together as part of the NHS diagnostic service work, that did not apply
to the ICH store and indeed all of the fetal material had been derived from
hospitals other than Alder Hey.’

As Head of the Department Professor Cooke accepted overall responsibility for the
collection, although the day-to-day maintenance was carried out by Ms Connell.
However, it was not to Professor Cooke, but to Professor Foster, Head of the
Department of Pathology, that Professor van Velzen expressed some of his concerns
regarding the collection in March 1995,
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‘ take this opportunity to inform you that at the Institute of Child Health an
archive exists of fetal specimens, dating mainly before and the first year after my
arrival, which were sent there when the Liverpool Eurocat Registry resided at the
Institute of Child Health and amateurish, non-specialist reports were sometimes
made and issued to clinicians and patients by researchers (mainly paediatric
surgeons and non-medical cardiac researchers) on congenital abnormalities and
syndromes. This archive still resides there, even after the data of the registry,
which closed down approximately 2 years ago, and has been placed in the
custody of Professor P Pharaoh. This archive of specimens is not based on
parental consent, has no pathologist supervision, no Ethical Committee approval
and is not part of an officially licensed Anatomical Institute as far as [ know.”

This letter should be placed in its proper context. Professor van Velzen was going on
the attack in defence to questions from Professor Foster regarding his use of fetal tissue
at Myrtle Street. Professor Foster did not act given that the collection had been ‘closed
down’. It is however, regrettable that this letter was not dealt with substantively
because some of Professor van Velzen’s observations had validity.

The Fetal Collection at Myrtle Street

15.

History; Contents of the Collection

15.1

152

15.3

106

Following Professor van Velzen’s arrival, fetus began to be referred to his Unit of
Infant and Fetal Pathology by the Unit III Management Group. Prior to Professor van
Velzen’s arrival in Liverpool non-viable fetus had been incinerated, although fetus from
various hospitals had been referred to the ICH (see paragraph 9.2).

Unit 11 included Mill Road Hospital, which subsequently closed in 1992, Liverpool
Maternity Hospital, which closed in 1995, and the Women’s Hospital in Catherine
Street, which also closed in 1995. The three hospitals were incorporated into the new
Liverpool Women’s Hospital, The Liverpool Obstetric and Gynaecology Services Trust
(later renamed Liverpool Women’s Hospital NHS Trust) established in April 1992 to
manage the hospitals.

Neither Unit III nor the subsequent Trust possessed pathology laboratories dealing

with fetal or infant pathology and after Professor van Velzen took up post a significant
amount of fetal material, largely deriving from miscarriage and therapeutic termination,
was sent to his unit for histology and subsequent sensitive disposal. This was
essentially a diagnostic regional service for fetal abnormalities and approximately

100 fetus per year would be received.
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The fetal pathology service had not existed prior to Professor van Velzen’s appointment
and it was not until the late summer of 1991 that a service agreement was entered into
providing the funding for this service. By October 1991 a backlog of approximately
240 fetus was awaiting disposal because of the failure to provide funding for the service
immediately after Professor van Velzen’s arrival and because of factors explored in
Chapter 8 parts I and 2. Under the service agreement Alder Hey was to dispose of
fetus following examination by means of burial in consecrated ground at the rate

of 20 per month,

The backlog was specifically brought to the attention of Mr Pearse Butler, Chief
Executive at Alder Hey, by Professor van Velzen who wrote to him on 5 November
1992. Mr Butler responded that some fetal material was being sent which did not
require formal reporting and anticipated that the tendering process, which was then
being addressed with a view to a contract being finalised, would achieve a more

" explicit agreement as to what should be sent. He also expected that there would be

disposal of the backlog,

“The arrangements for disposal should apply both to the backlog and to new
material that came in the future.’

It would appear, however, that funding for the sensitive disposal of the backlog was
never resolved, and in December 1999 it was identified that 445 fetus were retained at
Myrtle Street, many dating back to 1989-1991. Of those 445 fetus 198 were intact.

A table was prepared breaking down the numbers as follows:

Total intact Other
Name and case sheet number present 197 74 123
No name or case sheet number 20 6 14
Name but no case sheet number 76 37 39
Case sheet number but no name 105 52 53
ICH number present (many no names/case) 47 29 18
TOTAL 445 198 247

Subsequently in February 2000 Professor Johnson identified a further 30 fetus,
23 of which could be identified by name, and 22 of which were intact.

The vast majority of fetus emanated from Unit IIl work, although fetus were also sent
by other hospitals including the Countess of Chester and (rarely) Whiston. Whilst a
decision was apparently made following Professor van Velzen’s arrival for fetus from
social terminations to go to the ICH collection there are nevertheless a number of such
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fetus within the Myrtle Street store. Louise Costi, who began work as a Medical
Laboratory Assistant (MLA) at Myrtle Street in November 1991, gave evidence that
perhaps two fetus per week would come into the laboratory. Most were therapeutic
terminations of pregnancy, although there was the occasional social termination. All
miscarriages were dealt with in the same way as terminations.

There is confusion as to the source of some of the fetus. Dr Vyvyan Howard (Senior
Lecturer in Anatomy) was asked by Professor Johnson to log the fetal collection in
October 1999. He identified that an ICH collection, started under Professor Harris

for the study of Hirschprung’s disease and collected prior to 1989, had been sent to
Professor van Velzen. It is certainly true that a number of ICH fetus made their way to
Myrtle Street. Dr Howard also identified the presence of a clinical genetics collection
stored by Professor Christine Gosden, Professor of Medical Genetics, between 1990
and 1992, extending to 30 or so cases. However, it would appear that Dr Howard was
mistaken about the Gosden collection. We understand that Professor Gosden did bring
with her to Liverpool a number of genetically abnormal fetus collected in Edinburgh.
These were subsequently stored and catalogued within her laboratory at the Women'’s
Hospital, and despite Dr Howard’s comments, there is no evidence of the collection
being relocated to Myrtle Street or indeed to the ICH. It would seem therefore that the
majority of fetus at Myrtle Street came through the NHS diagnostic route, the
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Louise Costi and Jason Sweeney both began work as MLAs at Myrtle Street on

18 November 1991. They were employed specifically to assist with the fetal work
undertaken for Unit II1, although they assisted with other work within the laboratory,
and were responsible for booking in the fetus. A driver brought the fetus {and
placentae) to Myrtle Street, and they entered the names and details into the logging in
book. The fetus normally came with a form from the Liverpool Women’s Hospital
setting out the details of the mother. The information was entered into a separate fetal
book, and the forms stored in an A4 folder. The containers were opened to check that

15.8
remainder being transferred by the ICH.

16. Cataloguing; Storage; Maintenance and
Procedures

l6.1
the fetus had been stored properly in formalin.

16.2

Mr Sweeney and Ms Costi gave evidence that the work on the fetus was undertaken
much more regularly than the clinical work on the post mortems, evidence which was
confirmed by the Chief MLSO, Ms England. She agreed that the fetal work did not
involve specialised techniques and could therefore be processed relatively quickly.
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Collections

Mr Sweeney and Ms Costi confirmed the change in procedure whereby fetus would be
sent for burial. The Co-operative Funeral Service collected the fetus which were placed
into small coffins for burial at Calderstones Park.

Both Mr Sweeney and Ms Costi were surprised to learn of the extent of the fetal
retention at Myrtle Street. Mr Sweeney stated,

‘It is only through the Inquiry process that I discovered that there was a large
number of fetus retained at Myrtle Street, and that information surprised

me because | thought we had got through most of the fetus and arranged for
the burial.’

His views were echoed by Miss Costi,

‘I am led to believe that in the region of 450 fetus were found to have been
retained and stored in Myrtle Street, and that figure very much surprises me.
Given the progress that we had made in dealing with the backlog I thought that
we were up o date, and so am a litile confused as to where the fetus have come
from... I dealt with a lot of the fetus from therapeutic terminations before I left,
and the only fetus that [ can think were still stored were those that were being
retained for a study on club feet.”

Professor van Velzen also expressed surprise when interviewed by the Solicitor to the
Inquiry as to the extent of the retention, but we have seen a helpful document prepared
by Dr Howard logging the retained fetus. The majority of the retained fetus relate {o the
period 1989 to 1991, although there was substantial retention in 1995, possibly because
by then Professor van Velzen’s commitment to the workload reduced in light of his
impending departure from Liverpool. There are in the region of 100 fetus where even
the dates cannot be ascertained, let alone the identity.

What was the Purpose of the Collection;
Who Used It; What Were the Benefits?

It is clear that some research has been undertaken on the fetal material. In a significant
number of cases the left leg is recorded as having been removed, possibly in connection
with a study into club foot deformity, and in a number of cases the brain has been
removed. Eyes have also been taken from some of the fetus. We have considered
elsewhere (see paragraph 28) the validity of any such research on the fetal eye tissue.
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18. Who Knew of the Fetal Collection?

18.1  We accept the evidence of Mr Sweeney and Ms Costi that they were unaware of the
full extent of the retention at Myrtle Street. However, all those working within the
laboratory would have known that there was a backlog in respect of the fetal work
and that not all the fetus had been disposed of sensitively. Issues as to whether higher
management knew, not just of the fetal collection at Myrtle Street, but of the organ
collection generally, are addressed in Chapter 8 dealing with the ‘van Velzen years’.

19. Whose Responsibility was the Collection?

19.1 Tt is clear that the Myrtle Street store arose predominantly as a result of the NHS
diagnostic service work. Initially there may have been some suggestion on the part
of management at Alder Hey that Unit III might assume some responsibility, but this
was quickly rejected by Peter Herring, Chief Executive of Liverpool Women’s Hospital
NHS Trust. Mr Herring wrote to the Inquiry on 15 February 2000,

“When the situation regarding the existence of the store of organs and fetus was
revealed to the hospital and its staff in October last year we were very surprised
and concerned. There was an initial assumption by the Alder Hey management
that this Trust should assume responsibility for the retention of those organs and
fetal material that originated from our hospitals’ patients. 1 subsequently made
clear that we did not believe this to be appropriate on the basis that this Trust
had no operational management responsibility for the department and obviously
no knowledge or control over the actions of its staff. There are, nevertheless,
implications arising from this situation in relation to consent and the monitoring
of service provided, even where these comprise other NHS organisations.’

19.2  Mr Herring also pointed out to Ms Rowland that the fetal material retained at Myrtle
Street came from a variety of different sources, and not just the hospitals falling within
his remit. He wrote to her on 4 January 2000,

‘As far as the fetus were concerned it was the department’s clear responsibility
to sensibly dispose of this material, and, as with organs, that responsibility
cannot be passed back to the organisations from which the child or baby
originally emanated as they clearly had no control or responsibility over the
actions of the department or its staff.’

19.3  We note that Alder Hey accept broad responsibility for the Myrtle Street fetal
collection. However, its uses included research activity by the University who must
accept some responsibility for its existence.
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The Collection of Children’s Body Parts at the
Institute of Child Health

20,

20.1

20.2

203

20.4

History; Personnel; Contents of the Collection

In December 1999 Professor Johnson became aware that in addition to the heart and
fetal collections within the ICH there was a third store consisting of a relatively small
number of children’s body parts. He caused investigations to be made.

The history of the store dates back to the 1950s, when the Department of Child Health
began to collaborate with the old Dental Hospital, which was demolished in 1967/1968,
to pursue its research interest in developmental anatomy. Dental and facio maxillary
research transferred to the ICH from the Dental School in 1966, and one of the principal
researchers was Dr Ralph Latham, Lecturer in Oral Anatomy. In the 1960s and early
1970s research on the development of the ear and nose was undertaken, and this
research involved the use of human anatomical specimens of the head and neck. Some
of these specimens remain in the ICH, and some, but not all, have identifying labelling.

The store contains a number of children’s heads and intact bodies dating back to dental
cleft palate research work in the 1960s undertaken by Dr Latham who left the
University in December 1970. Some material was disposed of by proper funeral
arrangements during Dr Latham’s time and much of the material was disposed of at the
time of the move from the Dental Hospital. The material transferred to the ICH did
form the basis for research by others until 1973/1974. A number of hospitals supplied
Dr Latham with the bodies once consent had been provided, including Alder Hey,
Wrexham Maelor, Broadgreen, Whiston and St Catherine’s Hospital, Birkenhead.
Correspondence shows that Dr Latham endeavoured to build good working
relationships with the pathologists working at the hospitals.

Professor Johnson, as part of his investigation into the store, spoke at length to a former
colleague of Dr Latham. He confirmed that Dr Latham had acquired fetal and paediatric
material from a number of sources and that the collection had consisted of peculiar
developmental abnormalities as well as cleft palates, and was not confined to human
tissue. He was able to confirm that Dr Latham had acquired a wide variety of material,
some of which had been stored in bathtubs in formalin with a lid over the top. It was
considered unlikely that the Alder Hey pathologist, Dr Bouton, would have provided
material to Dr Latham, as his relationship with the University was apparently not good.
However, Dr Latham’s own thesis published in September 1967 acknowledges the
assistance of a number of pathologists, of whom Dr Bouton was just one, in making
post mortem material available. Further documentation makes it clear that Dr Bouton
was involved in the removal of heads in cases where appropriate consent (see paragraph
21.2) had been obtained.
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20.5 The children’s body parts remaining within the store were catalogued by Gwen Connell
in as much detail as could be gleaned from the limited amount of documentation still
available. The census returned to the CMO by the University confirmed that there were
retained 22 body parts from 15 children. Ms Connell went through the various
containers and books, and the summary of the collection makes sobering reading.

She identified 13 post natal heads/parts of head from children from a few days old to

11 years of age dating back to the 1960s and 22 heads from late premature/term fetus.
There are containers with a whole body of a child in one jar with a separated head in

another jar. Perhaps the most disturbing specimen 1s that of the head of a boy aged

11 years old. The most recent specimen was obtained in 1973,

21. Cataloguing; Storage; Maintenance and
Procedures; Consent

21.1  The University has been able to trace some consent documentation, but the process
of checking procedures has been hampered by the fact that the specimens date back
almost 40 years. The University’s position is that parents were told very frankly of
the intended research which was primarily into the development of cleft palate.

The University said the parents were willing to donate their children’s bedies for the
purposes of research, but the disclosed documentation on its own does not justify the
University’s conclusion that all relevant information was given to parents. Professor
Cooke did give hearsay evidence that Dr Latham had apparently had very detailed
discussions with families to obtain consent to retention of tissue and had given an
undertaking to bury the child once his work was complete.

21.2 A number of relevant consent forms are still in existence. These specifically confirm
consent to ‘donate the body’ of the deceased child to the Cleft Palate Unit or Oral
Morphology Research Unit ‘for the purpose of research’. It is further recorded that
the Unit will undertake ‘all responsibility for the proper burial’. There is also
correspondence from Dr Latham to one parent explaining that ‘it would greatly help
our research if you would think of giving me permission to retain the body of your
child until investigations are undertaken and authorising me to arrange for the burial
in due course’. Under cover of that letter was enclosed the consent form referred to
above. A similar letter to another parent queried “would you consider donating the
body of your deceased infant to the Cleft Palate Research Centre of the ICH and
leaving the funeral arrangements and expenses to us?’

21.3  The consent forms are clearly broad, specifically referring to donation for research.
But were parents told exactly what that research work would include? Given that the
research was likely to be in relation to cleft palate it might have been expected that
there would be work undertaken on the face or skull, but did parents appreciate that
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there would be decapitation? The letters referred to above were certainly not explicit
and there are no records from that period to confirm full and frank discussion. We have
not felt it appropriate to contact those parents identified in the documentation. Whilst
Dr Latham was traced to Canada he failed to co-operate with the Inquiry (or indeed the
University) and did not provide any additional information. What is clear is that there
was an expectation on the part of parents and indeed an assurance on the part of the
researcher that there would be a proper burial.

This clearly calls into question the retention of the body parts which should have been
disposed of sensitively by way of proper burial/cremation long ago. The problem is
worsened by the fact that many of the retained body parts cannot be identified positively,

There is documentation to show that there were some burials. By linking such
documentation to those details which can be confirmed in relation to the retained body
parts it is evident that such burials were not always complete and that in other cases
burial has simply not taken place. For example, there is a consent form donating the
body of a stillborn child for research, with the University, through the Unit, undertaking
all responsibility for burial. The body of that stillborn child remains in a jar in the ICH,
with the head in a second jar, some 30 years after the stillbirth. In another case, relating
to a neonate who died shortly after birth, a similar consent form was signed. There is
evidence of burial and yet ‘pieces of head” remain in a container, more than 30 years
later. Was this really what parents envisaged when giving the consent?

Documentation which would confirm the circumstances in which other material has
been disposed of is also missing. In one case there is correspondence from the
appropriate Registry Office querying the position in relation to a burial. The Registrar
had been told, following the death more than two years previously, that burial would be
arranged and the disposal certificate returned to him afterwards, but had heard nothing
further. The Registrar indicated that burial must take place within two years according
to the Regulations and was therefore anxious to conclude matters. The disclosed
documentation simply indicates that burial will take place ‘in the next few days’ but
there is no further relevant documentation. Indeed, in one particular case of which we
are aware the University has been unable to confirm the circumstances of any proper
burial in response to a family request.

Professor Johnson was asked whether his investigations had revealed why it should be
that there had been no burial when research had ceased 27 years previously. He was
unable to throw any light on this issue,

‘Tt is clear that it also came to a point whereby the body parts had been left
and those involved were not motivated to dispose of them, either because
of the difficulty of disposal or because of neglect.’
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21.8  Given the circumstances in which it was discovered by the Dean, the maintenance of
the collection must also be dubious. Certainly the impression is that the ‘store’ had
simply been left within the fetal room where, if it had been known about in the first
place, it had certainly become forgotten. Consent to research should not constitute an
open-ended ticket whereby material can be kept for years on end without any research
work being undertaken.

21.9  Some of the remaining documentation reveals a lack of respect and a failure to
appreciate the circumstances which led to the donation or taking of human material.
Two entries relating to material which has not been retained refer to fetal material of
9 weeks’ and 45 days’ gestation respectively. The comments next to each entry read
‘Inflated monster. Humpty Dumpty’ and ‘Neck deeply lacerated. Pull it to pieces
some time and reject’. Such entries do the researcher no credit. They are shocking
and disrespectful.

22. What was the Purpose of the Coliection;
Who Used It; What Were the Benefits?

22.1  Dr Latham did publish extensively in relation to the work undertaken in respect of cleft
palate malformation. We have reviewed a number of the papers from the oral surgery
and dental departments. Some papers related to the development of the facial skeleton,
both normally and in the presence of some congenital abnormalities, in particular cleft
lip and palate. Some of the work was undertaken on normal fetus acquired following
social termination of pregnancy and other work on fetus with cleft lip and palate. Some
of the work was carried out on children who had been patients in the Facio Maxillary
Unit and confirmed that specific consent had been obtained for the use of infants’
heads. On the evidence this does not necessarily follow. The work itself was of high
quality. Our concerns relate to the extent of discussions securing consent and the lack
of clarity regarding burial. In particular we are concerned by the simple fact that heads
and bodies remain within a store in the ICH many years after the research has been
published and despite undertakings given as to respectful burial.

22.2  From a positive perspective the research undertaken has increased medical
understanding of the proper treatment of cleft palate. Professor Cooke confirmed,

‘As a result of his (Dr Latham’s) work it has now been established that the
palate should be repaired as late in childhood as possible, and he obtained very
rare material from children who had died after palate repair.’
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Who Knew of the Collection?

It is clear that the finding of the paediatric collection came as a great shock to the Dean,
Professor Johnson, when he discovered it together with the fetal collection, on

7 December 1999. He had been asked by Alder Hey many months previously to be

one of three people judging their research poster day and had attended the hospital

that evening for that purpose. He was then approached by Professor Cooke who had
mentioned the fetal collection, much to his surprise. Professor Johnson asked to see

the collection and it was during that tour of the ICH that he noticed heads stored within
the fetal collection. There had been no attempt to hide the children’s body parts and
Professor Johnson immediately asked Ms Connell to place them on a lower shelf out
of view, and to take steps to change the lock and code of the room in which the body
parts were stored. He told the Inquiry that he was ‘saddened at what I had seen, and
also confused’. His initial reaction was to set up an internal inquiry, but a University
decision was made by the Vice-Chancellor, Professor Love, to co-opt a special
working group to investigate internally.

Professor Cooke had some knowledge of the paediatric collection, but did not
appreciate the true extent. He said in his witness statement dated 2 June 2000,

‘I knew, through Audrey Smith, of the fetal collection, and I also knew that
there was some other paediatric material dating back to the Dental School but
I did not know the extent or the nature other than that it related to the cleft
palate work.’

In oral evidence he expanded those comments, confirming that Dr Smith had told him
of the collection soon after he became Head of the Department, telling him that there
were ‘very rare, unusual specimens’ which were ‘part of the museum collection’.

We accept the evidence of Professor Johnson that he did not know of the collection.
We give him credit for not destroying the collection when he became aware of its
existence in December 1999. He was aware of its sensitivity, particularly at a time
when there was considerable public concern in relation to the retention of organs, and
any temptation to dispose of the material, however great, was resisted.

Dr Smith confirmed that she was aware of a collection of residual material relating

to clefi palate and other facio maxillary research undertaken by Dr Latham and others
many years previously. Her understanding was that the bodies had been given over

for research and once the pertinent organ (either head or part of the head) had been
removed, the body itself would have been stored. What knowledge there was of the
paediatric collection was extremely limited. Essentially this had been a collection used
in years gone by but then left on shelving without arrangements being made for proper
disposal. Because the children’s body parts were stored amongst the fetal collection it
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is probable that persons having access to the fetal store would have noticed the various
paediatric parts, particularly as no attempt was made to separate them from the fetal
collection as a discrete store.

Whose Responsibility was the Collection?

Clearly the responsibility lay with the University given the nature and purposes
of the collection.

The Eye Tissue Collection at The Royal Liverpool
University Hospital '

25.

25.1

252

253

History; Personnel; Contents of the Collection

On 7 December 1999 Professor Johnson had become aware of the fetal and paediatric
stores within the ICH and a few days later he was told by Professor Malcolm Jackson,
Head of the Department of Medicine, that there was a ‘fetal eye collection’ held within
the Department. Professor Johnson instituted investigations through the special working
group which he had already established.

He arranged for a complete inventory of the collection to be prepared and asked for a
list of publications resulting from the collection. He established that the collection had
begun with a pilot study by Professor 1an Grierson, Professor of Ophthalimology,
Professor van Velzen and Dr Howard in 1993 which had resulted in a successful
application for a Wellcome Trust grant. He queried what consent had been given and
was reassured that proper consent had been obtained. The University notified the
Inquiry of the ‘fetal eye collection” on 24 March 2000.

The question of consent was put to Professor Johnson and in his witness statement he said:

‘1 was told that Professor Grierson’s understanding in relation to the issue of the
consent was that this related back to the consent obtained on the original post
mortem consent form which specified that tissues could be used for teaching
and research. I was also reassured that the eyeballs were taken from fetus, and
not neonates or older children, and the collection remains secured in the
Department of Medicine.
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Collections

I was somewhat taken aback by the news of the fetal eye collection, but my
initial reaction was tempered by the fact that the research work performed in
ophthalmology was generally of an excellent standard, and the clinical work of
the Royal Liverpool University Hospital was excellent. I therefore felt that the
likelihood was that the work had probably been done properly. I nevertheless
instructed Professor Jackson and Professor Grierson to catalogue and secure
the tissues in a locked place not generally known to other staff and to await

the outcome of the due process which was occurring.’

Apparently the eye collection was limited to fetal tissue. We were concerned, however,
to eliminate the possibility that eyes had in fact been taken from children at post
mortem examination at Alder Hey. Initial documents which we obtained suggested
that we could not rule out this possibility.

A document prepared by Professor Grierson in 1994 in support of a proposed research
paper entitled ‘The Development of the Extra-cellular Connective Tissue Matrix and
Macroglia at the Lamina Cribrosa Region of the Human Optic Nerve’ stated,

‘Several studies have looked at the fine structure, three dimensional topography
and immunochemical composition of the lamina in the adult eye but much less
work has been done on the fetal and infant tissue. We have available to us
approximately 200 fetal, neonate and infant specimens from the Department

of Infant and Fetal Pathology, University of Liverpool. ...No major
immunohistochemical studies of human fetal material have been undertaken to
our knowledge. It is fair to say that there are a large number of questions about
the developing human lamina cribrosa that we do not know. ... A total of 80
fetal and infant eyes are available to us at present. These range from the fourth
fetal month to four years of age. All specimens have been either fixed in 10 per
cent formol saline or 2 per cent buffered glutaraldehyde and then processed for
wax histology. A total of two to three suitable specimens come to the Department
of Fetal and Infant Pathology each week so that it is our expectation to have
between 100 and 150 specimens for the optic nerve investigations. Enucleated
eyes with malignant melanoma of the choroid and eye bank eyes from the
Manchester eye bank will serve as adult control material. 20 such eyes are
embedded but as yet not sectioned and a further five specimens have been
stained and sectioned to test out the reconstuctive software.’

A formal application for a research grant from the Wellcome Trust was submitted by
Professor Grierson, Professor van Velzen and Dr Howard on 8 March 1994, The
summary of proposed research referred to the intention that the work be conducted
‘on an archival series of over 150 fetal specimens and the predicted prospective series
which is expected to accumulate at a rate of approximately 1-2 specimens per week’.
The application confirmed,
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‘A total of 150 fetal and infant eyes are available to us at present and have been
introduced into the database as part of our pilot feasibility investigation. The
specimens range from the second fetal month to term and then there are eyes
from neonates and infants up to four years of age. ...Between one and two
suitable specimens come to the Department of Fetal and Infant Pathology each
week so that it is our expectation to have an additional 50-100 specimens per
year for the optic nerve investigations.’

It was therefore quite clear that the proposal envisaged the use of neonatal and infant
eyes, notwithstanding the fact that we had been told the collection related exclusively
to fetal material.

The conclusion that neonatal/infant eyes were made available was supported by study
of the thesis submitted by the research fellow Mr Alan Kosmin in July 1998. His thesis
refers to the use of 17 fetal eyes between 12 and 35 weeks post conception, and one eye
from a 3.5 month neonate.

We were able to clarify matters by obtaining evidence from Professor Grierson, A list
purporting to identify the sources of the eye tissue, either by post mortem number or
by reference to histology day book numbers, was also disclosed. We have established
that the store contains 188 eyes and 2 optic nerves from 109 specimens. The majority
consists of both left and right eyes but there are some specimens where only one eye is
present. Whilst referred to as the ‘fetal eye collection’ by both the University through
its solicitors and Professor Johnson personally in his witness statement, we have
determined that a number of the eyes were removed from children at post mortem
examinations at Alder Hey. We (and indeed Alder Hey to whom the list was similarly
disclosed in August 2000) have had problems in making the necessary identification
but were able to highlight at least 12 cases where eyes had been taken from identified
neonates and children. The youngest child lived for only an hour, the oldest for 21 months.

The list of specimens also makes it clear that eyes were taken from fetus as long ago as
1988. Professor Grierson gave evidence that prospective collecting for the purpose of
the Wellcome Trust study only began at the very end of 1993/start of 1994 and stopped
in 1995. Eyes in the collection which pre-date that could only have been collected
retrospectively from material already held by Professor van Velzen.

Cataloguing; Storage; Maintenance and

Procedures

The specimens were provided by Professor van Velzen’s Unit of Fetal and Infant
Pathology. The issue of the removal of fetal eyes was discussed with Professor van
Velzen in his interview with the Solicitor to the Inquiry. He explained that in about
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10-15 per cent of cases eyes would be removed from fetus ‘as part of a routine service,
normal diagnostic purposes’. The justification advanced by Professor van Velzen was
that a proper examination of the eye was demanded in certain cases to determine the
genetic consequences of any disease process. It is clear from the list of the retained
fetus at Myrtle Street as logged by Dr Howard in October 1999 that eyes were removed
from fetus. An examination of Dr Howard’s log reveals that a total of 44 eyes had been
removed from those retained fetus. The vast majority of removals could not in fact be
dated as in some instances the fetus were not properly identified other than by a case
number. This was unhelpful in terms of further identification.

The actual collection of the specimens was carried out by Mr Michael Birch and

Mr Kosmin, who were both research fellows. Eyes were brought 